#### **University of New Orleans**

# ScholarWorks@UNO

University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations

**Dissertations and Theses** 

12-15-2007

# An Investigation of Factors Identified By Novice Teachers That Influence Performance on Standardized Assessments and Teacher Performance

Donna Odom LaCaze University of New Orleans

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uno.edu/td

#### **Recommended Citation**

LaCaze, Donna Odom, "An Investigation of Factors Identified By Novice Teachers That Influence Performance on Standardized Assessments and Teacher Performance" (2007). *University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations*. 646.

https://scholarworks.uno.edu/td/646

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by ScholarWorks@UNO with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/or on the work itself.

This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UNO. For more information, please contact scholarworks@uno.edu.

# An Investigation of Factors Identified By Novice Teachers That Influence Performance on Standardized Assessments and Teacher Performance

#### A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the University of New Orleans in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy In The Department of Curriculum and Instruction

By

Donna Odom LaCaze

B.A., University of Louisiana Monroe, 1993M.Ed., McNeese State University, 1995Ed.S., McNeese State University, 1997

December 2007

#### Acknowledgments

The completion of this dissertation would not have been possible without much help, support, and encouragement. I would like to take this opportunity to thank these special ones who have sustained me throughout this endeavor.

To my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, who gave me the knowledge and wisdom to complete this doctoral journey. I referred to scripture and relied on prayer to give me the strength I needed. *I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me...Philippians* 4:13

To my parents, Joe David and Nancy Odom, whose unconditional love has inspired me all of my life and has carried me to the completion of this degree. Thank you both for believing from the start that I could do it and for instilling in me a work ethic that enabled me to receive this degree.

To my husband and best friend, Todd LaCaze, who read over my dissertation more times than I did checking for any needed edits, for allowing me to cry on his shoulder many nights during this process, and for all the words of encouragement and support that was offered.

To my three beautiful boys, Jordan, Christian, and Joseph LaCaze, for being so understanding when mom needed to work on her dissertation. I consider all three of you a gift from the God and an inspiration.

To my major professor, Dr. Charles Gifford, whose words of encouragement and invaluable wisdom guided me through this process; that inspired me from the first day I met him; who pushed me to achieve my best; and who will always be one of my mentors and heroes.

To the remainder of my doctoral committee: Dr. Marvin Thames, Dr. Fred Litton, Dr. Richard Speaker, and Dr. Carl Dichta; who continually gave unselfishly of their valuable time to assist me in completing this endeavor.

Finally, to the participants of this study, who willingly gave of themselves through their personal storytelling.

## Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents, Joe David and Nancy Odom, whose love and support has been invaluable. Thanks for always loving me and believing in me. I love you, mama and daddy.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	vii
Abstract	viii
Preface	X
Chapter 1	1
Introduction to the Study	1
Background and Context of the Problem	1
Setting of the Study	4
Purpose of the Study	5
Theoretical Framework of the Study	6
Research Question and Methodology	10
Need for and Significance of the Study	10
Definition of Terms	12
Delimitations of the Study	14
Limitations of the Study	14
Summary	14
Overview of the Study	15
Chapter 2	16
Review of Literature	16
Mentoring	20
Tests and Teachers	24
Teacher Accountability in Other States	26
Admission Requirements	28
Related Research	32
Chapter 3	
Design and Methodology	35
Organization of the Chapter	35
Purpose of the Study	35
Research Question	35
Treatment	35
Praxis - Standardized Assessment	43
Qualitative Research	47
Participant Selection	48
Design of the Study	49
Phenomenological Methodology	49
Phenomenology – History	50
Data Collection	51
Trustworthiness	53
Data Analysis	55
Summary	
Chapter 4	
Findings	57
Introduction	57
Meeting the Participants	57
Nancy	57

Jeri	58
Melanie	
Joe David	
Lacie	61
Kate	62
Beth	63
Alice	64
Margaret	65
Ashley	66
Primary Findings	67
Professional Growth	71
Mentoring	74
Testing	
The Research Question	83
Summary of Findings	84
Chapter 5	86
Discussion	86
Introduction	86
Analysis of Findings	86
Findings in Context	88
Implications on Teacher Effectiveness	89
Personal Implications for Novices and Mentors	30
Novice Teachers' Perceptions of Assessments	91
Implications for Future Research	91
Personal Reactions	94
References	95
Appendices	104
Appendix A: Introductory Letter	104
Appendix B: Consent Form	105
Appendix C: Human Subjects Committee Approval	106
Vita	107

# LIST OF TABLES

1. Admission Requirements	30
2. New Teacher Assessment Process	42
3. Purposes and Questions of Interviews and Focus Group	s52
4. Overview of participants comments	67
5. Specific examples of issues and resolutions	80

#### **Abstract**

Entry in the teaching profession is often dependent on a number of steps or phases involving standardized assessments and performance assessments. The relationships between and among the variables incorporated in such instruments are typically assumed, but not necessarily substantiated. Furthermore, the relationships between the variables assessed and factors involved in teacher preparation have not been investigated. This study was designed to investigate the nature of such relationships in one particular case.

In the spring of 1997, the Louisiana legislature changed the Louisiana Teacher Assessment Program to create the Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program (LaTAAP). LaTAAP is a uniform statewide program for new teachers entering service for the first time in a Louisiana Public School System. Through LaTAAP, each new teacher is assigned a mentor teacher who helps him or her transition into the career of education as successfully and effectively as possible (Louisiana Department of Education, Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003).

The Praxis is a series of tests developed by Educational Testing Service (ETS) that provides tests and other services for states to use as a part of their teacher licensing and certification process. The Praxis Series is currently required for teacher licensure in Louisiana and 43 other states and U.S. jurisdictions (Educational Testing Service [ETS], 2005-2006).

The purpose of this study was intended to address relationships by investigating the factors identified by novice teachers as influencing their performance on Praxis and LaTAAP. Additionally, this study addressed whether the mentoring

component increased teachers' sense of their capacity to teach effectively. The central research question was:

What factors or issues are identified by novice teachers as influences on their performance in standardized assessments and classroom teaching effectiveness?

This qualitative study utilized a phenomenological approach employing data collection techniques consisting of personal questionnaires, interviews, and focus groups. Data were collected exclusively from ten participants who completed LaTAAP over the past four years and passed Praxis.

An analysis of the data revealed several commonalities of the participants'

Praxis and LaTAAP experiences which have had an effect on their professional practice.

The issues in common included professional growth, mentoring, and testing.

#### Keywords:

mentoring novice teachers Praxis professional growth effective teachers

Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program (LaTAAP)

#### Preface

As a child, I could not wait to start school. I loved school from kindergarten through graduate school. I had wonderful teachers that influenced my thoughts and ideas about education. I can remember my first grade teacher sharing knowledge with her students. I would go home and play school for hours with my sisters, neighbors, friends, and dolls. I believe it was then that the seeds of teaching were planted within me.

When my college years began, I first majored in General Studies while I made certain of my future career. After my first year of college, I changed my major to Elementary Education. As I attended education classes, I began to realize the impact that my teachers had upon me. They were not only my teachers, but my mentors as well. I had been influenced by their love of teaching and love of children. These experiences opened my eyes to the importance of mentors.

As a teacher, I have been fortunate enough to have been mentored on different levels. I had a mentor at the elementary level and the university level. Mentors at both levels proved to be beneficial. I have also had the opportunity of serving as a mentor to novice teachers. I enjoyed sharing the successes and failures I had experienced through the years with new teachers. Through LaTAAP, I also serve as an external evaluator.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### Introduction to the Study

Entry in the teaching profession is often dependent on a number of steps or phases involving standardized assessments and performance assessments. The relationships between and among the variables incorporated in such instruments are typically assumed, but not necessarily substantiated. Furthermore, the relationships between the variables assessed and factors involved in teacher preparation have not been investigated. This study is designed to investigate the nature of such relationships in one particular case.

#### Background and Context of the Problem

Louisiana uses two primary assessments for entry in the teaching profession,
Praxis and the Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program. The Praxis is a
series of tests developed by Educational Testing Service (ETS) that provides tests and
other services for states to use as a part of their teacher licensing and certification
process. The Praxis is currently required for teacher licensure in Louisiana. Praxis I:
Pre-Professional Skills Tests (PPST) is intended to be taken early in a candidate's college
career to measure basic skills in reading writing, and mathematics skills. The Praxis II:
Subject Assessments is taken by every candidate exiting an accredited teacher education
program in the state. Praxis II measures content knowledge of the subjects one will
teach. The Praxis II: Subject Assessments include four areas of testing including
Specialty Area Tests, Multiple Subject Assessment for Teachers (MSAT), Principles of
Learning and Teaching (PLT), and Teaching Foundations. The Specialty Area Tests are
multiple-choice and constructed-response items that measure general and subject-specific
teaching skills and knowledge. MSAT was developed to assess knowledge and high-

order thinking skills of prospective elementary school teachers. PLT uses a case study approach with constructed-response and multiple-choice items to measure pedagological knowledge at grade levels. The Teaching Foundations Tests feature constructed-response and multiple-choice items to assess pedagogy in multi-subjects (The Praxis Series Bulletin, 2005-2006). In Louisiana, Praxis I allows or blocks entry into teacher education programs and Praxis II allows or blocks the exit.

Recent studies conducted by the United States Department of Education, ETS, and the Louisiana Department of Education have shown that Praxis and LaTAAP are both important to enhance or verify effectiveness in Louisiana. However, there are no studies that indicate relationships or commonalities among the variables of the assessments and aspects of the experiences of teacher preparation. This study is intended to investigate the concern for these relationships by investigating the factors identified by novice teachers as influencing their performance on Praxis and LaTAAP.

The Louisiana Teacher Assessment Program (LaTAP) has been in operation since August 1, 1994. During the first years of LaTAP the program consisted of a support semester and an assessment semester. In the support semester, the three-person assessor team (principal, teacher, and external assessor) each visited the new teacher. During these visits, the assessors conducted "practice observations and interviews, shared results with the teacher, and assisted him/her in creating a professional development plan targeting strategies to improve weaker areas in the Louisiana Components of Effective Teaching" (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2002).

New teachers who completed the LaTAP consistently rated the assistance and support of their assessors, particularly experienced teachers, as one of the strongest parts of the program. Therefore, the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) requested that the support, or "mentoring," phase of the program be strengthened (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

In 1997, the legislation changed LaTAP and created LaTAAP. The three- person assessment team was changed to a two-member team, which consisted of a principal/designee and an assessor external to the school. The team functioned only in the assessment semester. The mentor teacher was responsible for new teacher support and assistance. The mentor teacher served in this capacity for two semesters. During the 1997-1998 school year, the Louisiana Department of Education piloted the mentor program to determine policies, procedures, activities, and training before statewide implementation of the program occurred during the 1998-99 school year (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

In 2001 the BESE approved recommendations from the Governor's Blue Ribbon Commission on Teacher Quality. The recommendations related to the LaTAAP emphasized the importance of mentoring and assistance for the success of new teachers. The amount of time new teachers are mentored at their schools was expanded to one full year before assessment due to recommendations of the Blue Ribbon Commission. In order to enhance the quality of interaction between mentors and new teachers, the mentoring program was changed from one year to two years (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

Recent studies conducted by the United States Department of Education, ETS, and the Louisiana Department of Education have shown that Praxis and LaTAAP are both important to enhance or verify effectiveness in Louisiana however there are no studies indeed that indicate relationships or commonalities between and among the variables of both. There is an assumption Colleges and Departments of Education have adopted these both but is there a reason?

#### Setting of the Study

The Louisiana Teacher Assessment Program (LTAP) has been operational since August 1, 1994. In the early years of the program (1994-1998), the program consisted of a support semester and an assessment semester. During the support semester, the three-person assessor team (principal, experienced teacher, and external assessor) each visited the new teacher. At this time, experienced teachers on the team were considered to be assessors rather than mentors. These experienced teachers were required to attend assessor training at the outset of their participation in LTAP. This assessor training took place regionally throughout the state, with teachers from two or more parishes attending.

In the spring of 1997, the Louisiana legislature changed the Louisiana Teacher
Assessment Program to create the Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment
Program (LTAAP). LaTAAP is a uniform statewide program for new teachers entering
service for the first time in a Louisiana Public School System.

The LaTAAP program consists of four semesters: semester 1 includes Assistance; semester 2 also includes Assistance; semester 3 includes Assessment; and semester 4 includes Assistance (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003, p. 9). Through LaTAAP, each new teacher is assigned

a mentor teacher who helps him or her transition into the career of education as successfully and effectively as possible (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003, p. 12).

The Praxis is a series of tests developed by Educational Testing Service (ETS) that provides tests and other services for states to use as a part of their teacher licensing and certification process. The Praxis Series is grounded in current research, including a complete job analysis of the most important tasks and skills required of beginning teachers and extensive surveys to confirm test validity (Educational Testing Service [ETS], 2005-2006).

The Praxis Series is currently required for teacher licensure in Louisiana and 43 other states and U.S. jurisdictions. ETS ensures Praxis tests are valid and fair by determining the connection between the content of a test and the knowledge and /or skills judged important for entry-level practice.

In recent years, high-stakes tests have moved from relative obscurity to center stage in state and federal education policy (Wakefield, 2003, p. 381). The increasing interest in reforming the teaching profession has focused on the use of teacher tests and performance assessments to change the qualifications of the teaching force, to revise teacher preparation, and to impact the on-going professional development of educators (Pullin, 2001, p. 384).

#### Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is intended to address relationships by investigating the factors identified by novice teachers as influencing their performance on Praxis and LaTAAP.

#### Theoretical Framework of the Study

Mentoring as a source of learning has become particularly relevant given the nature of careers today. The fast-paced changing of organizational structure creates the need for fast-paced learning (Higgins & Kram, 2001, p. 270). If mentors and mentees can profit from their professional practice and use their mentoring as a source of learning, the entire mentoring process will have been proven to be even more credible.

Given this placement of mentoring in the educational process, the work of two theorists Knowles and Dewey provide frames for this study. Through investigation of Malcolm Knowles' theory of adult learning and John Dewey's theory of experiential learning, recognition of the importance of these theories as they relate to adults who participate in the act of mentoring can be seen.

In 1980, Malcolm Knowles published his fundamental work about adult learning. His *Androgogy*, meaning "the art and science of helping adults learn, (Knowles, 1980, p. 43) is based on five assumptions about the adult learner (Merriam & Caffarella, 1999, p. 92). The basic concept of mentoring is an excellent fit with Knowles' model and Merriam & Caffarella's five assumptions, as stated below:

"As a person matures his or her self-concept moves from that of a dependent personality toward one of a self-directing human being", (Merriam & Caffarella, 1999, p. 272). Mentoring assists adults in this endeavor. As mentors attempt to help protégés move from a dependent personality toward a self-directing one, their own personal growth should be affected and strengthened.

- 2. An adult accumulates a growing reservoir of experience, which is a rich resource for learning" (Merriam & Cafferella, 1999, p. 272). Mentoring provides experiences which may otherwise not be supplied in adults' daily professional practice. As these experiences accumulate, mentors are given a vast pool of information which can be drawn upon as they are presented with new opportunities of learning.
- "The readiness of an adult to learn is closely related to the developmental tasks of his or her social role" (Merriam & Cafferella, 1999, p. 272). Mentors come to their role with expectations and preconceived ideas (Parker, 1999, p. 21). As they mentor, they must sharpen their role definition and decide how best to put it into practice. Throughout this process, their own readiness to learn can be strengthened.
- 4. "There is a change in time perspective as people mature from future application of knowledge to immediacy of application" (Merriam & Cafferella, 1999, p. 272). Thus an adult is "more problem-centered than subject-centered in learning" (Knowles, 1980, pp. 44-45). A mentor's job is mainly composed of problem solving that is, helping protégés solve problems that are of immediate concern to them. Since the mentoring role is usually assumed at a more mature stage in life, mentors have reached this time perspective and are comfortable with the problem-centered rather than subject-centered approach to learning.
- 5. "Adults are motivated to learn by internal factors rather than external ones" (Merriam & Cafferella, 1999, p. 272). With the mentoring relationship being

an essentially internal one, learning takes place within the confines of that relationship. Mentor and protégé experiences alike become internal motivators for future learning.

Dewey (1938), in his classic volume *Experience and Education*, made some of the most thoughtful observations about the connections between life experiences and learning. More specifically, Dewey stated, "all genuine education comes about through experience" (p.13). For learning to happen through experience, Dewey argued that the experience must exhibit the two major principles of continuity and interaction: "The principle of the continuity of experience means that every experience both takes up something from those which have gone before and modifies in some way the quality of those which come after" (p. 27). Learners must connect what they have learned from current experiences to those in the past and must be intertwined with the old, always seeking to infuse future experiences which will follow in order to promote professional and personal growth.

The second principle, that of interaction, states that "an experience is always what it is because of a transaction taking place between an individual and what, at the time, constitutes his environment" (Dewey, 1938, p. 41). The mentoring environment is rich with opportunities to grow, learn, and reflect. As mentors give transactions of time and knowledge to their protégé's professional "accounts", these accumulated experiences help build their own bank of knowledge.

In translating Dewey's ideas into mentoring practice, what is key is how important the situation becomes in promoting learning. Developing a welcoming and comfortable atmosphere, providing the right materials, and linking these materials to

learners' past and future experiences is critical in assisting not only mentors, but also their protégés to learn form their experiences.

As aforementioned, these concepts of Knowles and Dewey, derived from the field of education, strongly contribute to the practice of mentoring. However, to adequately frame this study, one must explore additional theoretical perspectives in other fields of study.

The field of medicine has long been a proponent of mentoring (Schoener, 1996, p.38). The process of mentoring in the field of medicine is often referred to as internship or preceptorship. Preceptorship is recognized as "a clinical teaching strategy that eases the transition of students from the educational setting into the practice environment" (Schoener, 1996, p. 40). Similar to mentoring in the educational field, medical and nursing students follow the leadership and guidance of more experienced colleagues to expand their knowledge and expertise.

Michael Polanyi, a 20<sup>th</sup> century philosopher and scientist, developed the theory of "personal knowing", considered by some to be the philosophical underpinning for nursing education (Hilton, 2002, p. 249). Polanyi's philosophy, based on a person's acquisition of knowledge, can be described as an apprenticeship, whereby a more learned person can "show someone, and apprentice, how to perform a task" (Hilton, 2002, p. 249). This apprenticeship approach has been applied to nursing education. Polanyi offers a holistic approach already present in modern-day nursing education where newer nurses, guided by experienced ones acting as mentors, learn by seeing, doing, touching, and experiencing (Hilton, 2002, p. 250).

Carl Rogers (1942) has written extensively on the qualities and attitudes important for the facilitation of learning and optimal development of individuals. Roger's theory has been instrumental in the development of a Collaborative Mentoring Program (CMP) at the Brody School of Medicine at East Carolina University. Roger's theory purports that "the provision of a safe, supportive learning environment facilitates the positive formation of relationships and trust between teacher and learner and, we would add, physicians and patients" (p. 35).

In conclusion, the works of Knowles, Dewey, Polanyi, and Rogers have been shown to contribute to mentoring programs throughout the fields of education and medicine. This study is framed by the works of these scholars.

#### The Research Question and Methodology

The central research question was developed based on an extensive review of mentoring literature, gaps in the research, and personal experiences as an external evaluator. Additionally, this study addressed whether the mentoring component increased teachers' sense of their capacity to teach effectively. The central research question is:

What factors or issues are identified by novice teachers as influences on their performance in standardized assessments and classroom teaching effectiveness?

This qualitative study utilized a phenomenological approach employing data collection techniques consisting of personal questionnaires and focus groups.

#### Need for and Significance of the Study

The need for and significance of this study becomes apparent as one explores the mentoring literature. Even though mentor benefits have been numerously investigated

(Bozeman & Serpell, 1999, p. 22; Cohen & Galbraith, 1995, p. 101; Feiman-Nemser, 1996, p. 98; Kerka, 1998, p. 68; University of California, College of Education, 2006) there are few studies that explore teacher effectiveness and its relationship to Praxis and LaTAAP. Perhaps there is a need for investigating if there is a relationship between Praxis, LaTAAP, and teacher effectiveness. New teachers could make a substantive impact if they were allowed a forum in which to reveal their perceptions regarding LaTAAP as a way to retain new teachers in the system. These perceptions would impact individual school districts with regard to availability of qualified personnel.

Teacher attrition has long been a significant reason for implementing mentor programs internationally and throughout the United States (Evertson & Smithey, 2000, p.8; Feiman-Nemser, 1996, p. 112; Halford, 1998, p. 2; U.S. Department of Education, 1998). In a study comparing American and Israeli mentors, Clinard and Ariav (1998) suggested that "if mentoring experience involves learning new strategies and approaches to coaching, would not some of that knowledge 'spill over' in teaching children" (p. 101)? If new teachers can be encouraged to engage in reflective thinking about their mentoring practice, their professional teaching practice might become stronger as a result. New teachers often become consumed with the job at hand and the time constraints that bind them, leaving no time for reflection on their practice.

Since LaTAAP is touted to provide substantial benefits for both novice and mentor teachers, this reality has important implications for funding decisions made by administrators and staff development personnel (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006). Allowing new teachers and mentors to reveal their perceptions of their experience would assist administrators as they grapple with funding decisions related to

mentoring programs. Staff development personnel would also stand to benefit from this information as they make decisions concerning the types of professional development to provide for both novice and experienced teachers.

In summary, a qualitative study based on teachers' perceptions of their LaTAAP and Praxis experience would stand to benefit not only the teachers, but also the students, administrators, and staff developers who constitute our educational systems.

#### **Definition of Terms**

#### **Andragogy**

Andragogy is "the art and science of helping adults learn" (Knowles, 1980, p. 43). LaTAP

The Louisiana Teacher Assessment Program consisted of a support semester and an assessment semester for novice teachers (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

#### **LaTAAP**

The Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program is a program designed to accommodate new teachers through mentoring and assessment (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

#### Phenomenological Study

A phenomenological study is a qualitative tradition of inquiry which describes the meaning of the lived experiences for several individuals concerning a concept or a stated phenomenon (Creswell, 1998, p. 93).

#### **Praxis**

The Praxis is a series of tests developed by Educational Testing Service that provides tests and other services for states to use as a part of their teacher licensing and certification process (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006). The sections of the test as it applies to elementary education teachers in Louisiana include Praxis I: Reading, Writing, and Mathematics and Praxis II: Principles of Learning and Teaching K-8 and Elementary Education Content Knowledge.

#### <u>Protégé</u>

A protégé is a person under the tutelage of a teacher mentor. Other frequently applied titles for a protégé include "new teacher", "inductee", "novice", or "mentee" (Sweeny, 2001, p. xi).

#### **Teacher Attrition**

Teacher attrition is the course of action by which teachers leave the teaching profession (Feiman-Nemser, 1996).

#### **Teacher Mentor**

Teacher mentors for the purposes of this study are experienced Louisiana public school teachers (5 years or more) who have accepted the opportunity to enhance the training and professional development of new teachers (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

#### Teacher Mentoring

"The complex developmental process mentors use to support and guide their protégés through the necessary transitions that are a part of learning how to be effective educators and career-long learners" (Sweeny, 2001, p. xii).

#### TSR

The Team Summary Report is a multipage form on which ratings as well as rationales for ratings are recorded (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

#### Delimitations of the Study

The participants in this study consisted of LSUA graduates that are public school teachers who successfully completed LaTAAP during the last four years and passed Praxis.

#### Limitations of the Study

One limitation was that the number of participants was small due to time constraints and the qualitative nature of the study. While the participants involved in this qualitative study cannot generate the breadth of data required to represent all LaTAAP participates perceptions, they provided us with an insight into the experiences of public school teachers.

This study was also limited by my own close proximity to the topic of teaching and assessing. I am a trained and experienced external assessor for LaTAAP. I have also supervised student teachers in the education department at LSUA where the LCET form is used as an evaluation tool. The participants were responsive and eager to share their stories with someone whom they knew would be empathetic to their situation.

#### Summary

This study explored the experiences of beginning teachers. As evidenced by the literature, there is a need to discover if there is a relationship between LaTAAP, Praxis, and teacher effectiveness. This phenomenological study was framed by my own personal experiences as a teacher and an external assessor, an extensive review of

existing literature, and data gathering and analysis based on the lived experiences of the chosen participants.

#### Overview of the Study

This dissertation is organized into five chapters. The first chapter serves as a roadmap for the remainder of the study. The background and context of the problem is presented, along with my personal experiences, which leads to an interest in the problem. The purpose of the study, significance of and need for the study, definitions of terms and the delimitations and limitations recognized by the researcher are also included.

Chapter two presents an extensive review of literature that was found to be important to the study. This review shows how the literature made a contribution to understanding the research topic. It also reveals the existence of gaps in the literature and how the study addressed those gaps.

Chapter three presents a specific description of the research design, the purpose of qualitative research, and the methods of data collection and analysis that were utilized.

Chapter four provides an introduction to the participants and a detailed description of findings that emerged from analysis of the data.

Chapter five consists of the study's findings, conclusions, implications for mentoring theory and practice, and future research recommendations.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### Review of Literature

The first-year teacher faces unique problems. The leap from college student to classroom practitioner is exceptionally wide. Teachers must not only be competent in their subject and know how to teach it, they must maintain a climate in which teaching and learning can take place. A teacher's personality is sufficiently exposed in teaching that his or her persona is almost transparent. This is a threatening, anxiety-producing situation for a novice, who is just beginning to establish a professional self-concept (Kramer, 2001, p. 411).

Newly licensed teachers are prepared to begin to teach, but they are not thoroughly proficient. They are also not ready to fine-tune their competence without assistance and support. A complete conception and a realistic awareness of being a teacher cannot be gained entirely, simulated exactly, or understood sufficiently in preservice training. Even a superb student teaching experience lacks the completeness and the realism of a first teaching job (Silva, 2000).

According to Johnson (2001), teaching has been a career in which those with the least experience face the greatest challenges and most difficult responsibilities. This helps substantiate the belief espoused by our national, state, and local educational leaders that beginning teachers need a quality support system in order to achieve success during those "first few crucial years" of teaching (p.2).

Programs that provide support for beginning teachers move away from traditional practices in which new teachers generally assume full workloads that isolate them in their classrooms. According to some teacher reform advocates, this "sink or swim" practice

prevents new teachers from learning how to effectively link and adapt their knowledge and skills to specific expectations of the employing school district, school and classroom. Recent state-level induction programs for new teachers include support for up to two years. These programs often include orientation, formal mentors, peer networking, observations and assessments of instructional practice and classroom management, workshops and seminars (Hargreaves, 2000, p. 51).

New teachers face a multitude of challenges, especially in the face of an increased focus on accountability, the concurrent pressure to raise test scores, and the introduction of demanding standards-based curricula (Bauer & LeBlanc, 2002). New teachers often feel alone and that their college or university training has not prepared them for the reality of the classroom (Kramer, 2001); feelings of isolation and frustration are among the most-cited reasons new teachers leave the profession (Breaux & Wong, 2003, p. 22). Many new teachers describe their experiences as 'isolated, emotionally disconnected, and having no one to turn to' (Mauer & Zimmerman, 2000, p.26).

Novice public education teachers walk into their classrooms on the first day, fully expected to perform the same job as veteran teachers. One-third of new teachers leave the profession within the first three years (Ingersoll, 2002, p. 3). While there are various aspects that play a significant role in the decision teachers make to leave the profession, 43% of those who change careers cite "inadequate support" as their primary basis (Jones & Pauley, 2003, p. 23).

The large number of new teachers entering the profession in the next few years will require significant types of support (Portner, 1998, p. 46). Teacher induction programs featuring some mentoring component have become an extremely popular

policy response to this need; about two-thirds of the states have mandated some form of mentor support for beginning teachers (Feiman-Nemser, 1996). The United States

Department of Education (2004) reports that the number of public school teachers participating in new teacher induction or evaluation programs which often include mentoring has more than tripled during the last thirty years.

One of the most critical goals of professional development is to increase teacher effectiveness. New teachers are learners; in fact, they are on the very steepest part of their learning curves. Research suggests that what happens to beginning teachers during their early years on the job determines not only whether they stay in teaching but also what kind of teachers they become (Jipson and Paley, 2000, p. 38).

The Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program (LaTAAP) is a three-semester program that provides participating new teachers with a planned program of support while also providing a statewide measure of teacher competency for certification. The inclusion of a mentoring component in the LaTAAP program was specifically designed to provide assistance to new teachers through classroom visits and conferences in a formative rather than summative measure of evaluation (Bauer and LeBlanc, 2002).

The LaTAAP program has two broad stages: the two assistance semesters and one assessment semester. New teachers are defined as those which have taught less than three years and hold type C certificates, those who hold temporary authorization to teach, teachers moving for the first time from Louisiana nonpublic schools to public schools, and new teachers from out of state who are unable to provide appropriate evaluation results from their immediate preceding employer (Bauer and LeBlanc, 2002). During the first semester, a mentor teacher is assigned to assist the new teacher in becoming a

competent, confident teacher within the framework provided by the Louisiana components of effective teaching. The evaluation team is made up of the mentor and the school principal or principal designee. During the third semester, the assessment team is made up of the mentor, the school's principal/designee, and an external assessor (Bauer & LeBlanc, 2002).

Classroom observations are used to gather data. Data collected by the assessment team is the basis for recommendation to the Louisiana Department of Education and the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education regarding the teacher's certification. During the third semester of employment, the administrator and the external assessor evaluate the certification candidate. From the evaluations the assessment team determines if the criteria for certification have been met based on the Revised Components of Effective Teaching. The four domains that are considered in the evaluation are planning, instruction, management, and professional development (Bauer & LeBlanc, 2002).

The Louisiana Mentor Program, one part of the state program, is designed to help a new teacher become a confident, competent professional in the classroom as quickly as possible and to offer support and assistance as he/she experiences first-year teaching.

Local school districts compensate mentors who work with up to two novices per year.

Districts match mentor teachers and novices by grade level and subject areas. New teachers in the program receive feedback regarding planning, classroom and instructional strategies; in-classroom observations with feedback in relation to the Louisiana

Components of Effective teaching; and attention, support, and encouragement by mentor teachers (Louisiana Department Of Education [LDOE], 1998).

Beginning teachers need assistance with specific curricular issues within the context of their own classes and students. Many have the content knowledge, but lack the ability to translate the relevance of content instruction into achievable academic goals for their students. Valuable components to statewide induction programs include in-class coaching assistance and support to help beginning teachers to develop curriculum and lesson plans (Mullen, 2000, p. 4). School systems are finding that beginning teachers who have access to intensive mentoring are less likely to leave teaching (Trubowitz, 2004, p. 59).

#### Mentoring

Mentoring is a relationship in which a person of greater rank or expertise teaches, guides, and develops a novice in an organization or profession. The experience has an unusually beneficial effect on the protégé's personal and professional development (Darling-Hammond, 2004, p. 106).

Teacher mentoring programs are perceived as an effective staff development approach for beginning teachers. By establishing mentoring programs novice teachers get a strong start in their careers and experienced classroom teachers serving as mentors receive recognition and incentives. In education, mentoring is a complex, multidimensional process of guiding, teaching, influencing, and supporting new teachers (Koki, 1997, p. 6).

The terms mentoring, modeling, and coaching are often used interchangeably by educators. Functions of the mentor teacher vary according to the needs of the new employee, the goals of the mentoring program, and the local educational mentoring relationships. School districts must select and train mentors, match mentors and

protégés, set goals and expectations, and establish mentoring programs (Koki, 1997, p. 6).

Mentors may offer counsel, provide information, interpret cultural codes and practice, serve as role models, and act as advisers, guides, or advocates in a variety of formalized and less-formal contexts (Jipson and Paley, 2000, p. 37). Mentors must be good communicators who are respectful of the mentee and their beliefs regarding educational practice and theory. The mentor needs to encourage, motivate and challenge the mentee, helping them to grow to their utmost professional potential. The mentee, on the other hand, must also possess certain attributes for the relationship to be worthwhile, such as having a desire to work toward learning new instructional information, and an openness to different ideas and points of view (Jones & Pauley, 2003, p. 23).

Mentoring is an effective mechanism for one-on-one professional guidance and for cultivating a teaching culture in which expert teachers serve as an essential resource for new teachers. Such relationships are particularly useful for new teachers as they seek to develop effective teaching practices. A 1998 study by the U.S. Department of Education found that three out of five new teachers had been mentored by another teacher in the last year, suggesting that schools and/or teachers recognize the importance of such relationships early in a teacher's career. In addition, among the teachers who had been mentored within that time period, 45 percent with three or fewer years of teaching experience believed it improved their teaching a lot, compared with only 18 percent of teachers with 20 or more years' experience (Silva, 2000).

Schools need to train and support their mentors to be coaches who understand the elements of good teaching. They need to equip mentors and beginning teachers with a

learning curriculum so that they learn to analyze and improve classroom instruction. And they need to provide time and support for beginning teachers and mentors to work together effectively (Hirsh, Koppich, & Knapp, 1996, p. 22-25).

The mentorship needs to go beyond an exclusive focus on teaching techniques and curriculum development. Mentors must provide support to beginning teachers for all aspects of their job, including interacting with parents, finding stimulation from others and working with them to improve education within the school, appreciating their role as members of a professional community, dealing with students, and recognizing that teacher activity reaches beyond the narrow confines of the classroom (Trubowitz, 2004, p. 59).

The National Commission on Teaching and America's Future noted that beginning teachers who receive mentoring become more effective as teachers because they are learning from guided practice rather than trial and error, and they leave teaching at much lower rates. Unfortunately, most beginning teachers never get mentoring support. In a recent national survey of teachers conducted by the U.S. Department of Education, while 70 percent of those who had been mentored by another teacher said that the experience significantly improved their teaching, less than one-fifth have received such guidance (Mullen, 2000, p. 114-115).

Only fifteen states require and finance mentoring for new teachers which is an increase of one in the past ten years (National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification [NASDTEC], 1998). Similarly, only fifteen states require school districts to set aside professional-development time for all teachers (National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification [NASDTEC],

1998). One way to produce good teachers and to keep them is to improve teacher professional development, starting with "induction" programs for beginning teachers (National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification [NASDTEC], 1998). Effective induction programs are built around a well-defined learning curriculum, combining mentoring with high-quality professional development to help new teachers reflect on and improve their classroom practice (National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification [NASTFEC], 1998).

In a study for the Center for the Study of Teaching and Policy at the University of Washington, researcher Richard Ingersoll found a 40 percent turnover rate among first-year teachers who did not participate in induction programs (National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification [NASDTEC], 1998). This was more than twice the turnover rate of teachers who had received high-quality induction support (National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification [NASDTEC], 1998).

Educational Testing Service's (ETS) research found that experienced teachers who were trained as mentors worked with beginning teachers on critical aspects of teaching. Results show that high quality mentor-based induction programs can help improve teacher practices and bolster student achievement (National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification [NASDTEC], 1998).

Although a great deal remains to be learned about mentoring, the evidence presented here indicates that mentoring relationships can be established or enriched by learning or encouraging mentor-like behavior rather than by selecting certain types of

people. Furthermore, it is not necessary to match pairs on various characteristics or to avoid cross-gender pairing. Therefore, the potential for many more individuals benefiting from these developmental relationships becomes a practical reality.

#### **Tests and Teachers**

Researchers have expressed serious concerns about the academic ability of teachers often citing the fact that high school seniors who intend to major in education have consistently earned lower scores on standardized tests than their college-bound peers. Students who profess an early interest in education traditionally lacked the academic abilities of students interested in other profession. One reason is because teaching has never received the respect and remuneration accorded most other occupations (Latham, Gitomer, & Ziomek, 1999, p. 24).

The U.S. Department of Education's draft guidance entitled "Improving Teacher Quality" reveals that the measure of a teacher is based on a single test. The draft guidance, which is in regard to the state grants under Title II of the No Child Left behind Act, makes no attempt to place teaching into a context most teachers would find compatible with their decision to choose the profession as a career. The law states that a "highly qualified teacher" is ready for the classroom once he or she has a bachelor's degree and state certification or has passed the state teacher licensing exam and "a rigorous state academic subject test." Teachers who obtain their training via "alternative" routes are considered highly qualified as beginning teachers provided they are being mentored and supervised in a program leading to certification (Lewis, 2003, p. 420).

More recent concerns about the teaching force are also commanding attention, including the growing demand for teachers and the gender and ethnic homogeneity of the

teacher workforce. Most predictions place the demand for new hires above two million over the next decade, or more than 200,000 teachers a year, far exceeding the number of potential teachers produced by colleges of education. Nearly nine out of ten public school teachers are white, and approximately three in four are female (National Commission on Teaching and America's Future [NCTAF], 1999, p. 35). The mismatch between the diverse population of students and the relatively homogeneous population of teachers makes it difficult for all students to have role models in school with whom they can readily identify (Latham, Gitomer, & Ziomek, 1999, p. 25).

The quality of the nation's public schools has become a predominant issue in political campaigns and in the media. Calls for education reform are widespread and there has been frequent legislative activity in all the states and in Congress to promote education change. While the primary focus of education reform in the 1980s and 1990s was the nation's elementary and secondary school students, the focus in recent years has been upon the teaching profession. The increasing interest in reforming the teaching profession has focused on the use of teacher tests and performance assessments to change the qualifications of the teaching force, to revise teacher preparation, and to impact the on-going professional development of educators (Pullin, 2001, p. 383).

Policymakers must look beyond the use of standardized tests to evaluate prospective elementary school teachers. School districts in the United States need thousands of new teachers each year. In elementary schools, mandates for reducing class size have created a widespread demand for teachers, particularly in urban schools that serve students from families below the poverty line. In the coming years, teacher retirements will create many more teaching vacancies. In order to assess prospective

teachers more fairly, policymakers must focus on using multiple evaluation measures and simultaneously keeping high standards, using authentic measures, aligning content assessments to the job, and differentiating teacher education by providing in-depth preparation in specific developmental levels (Nagel & Peterson, 2001, p. 46).

The Praxis Series are standardized examinations that provide measures of academic achievements and proficiencies for individuals entering or completing college or provisional teacher preparation programs and for individuals in professional areas (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006).

## Teacher Accountability in Other States

Many states have strengthened licensing standards in an effort to ensure that teachers are able to teach learners from different backgrounds and with various levels of preparation to meet challenging new content standards (Darling-Hammond, 2005, p. 238). According to ETS (2005-2006), twenty-six states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Department of Defense, and the Virgin Islands use Praxis I computer-based tests to screen teachers. Thirty-seven states and the District of Columbia use at least one test from either Praxis I or Praxis II. Composite scores for each state are calculated by summing the sub-scores for all three tests; however, not all states accept composite scores. According to ETS (2005-2006), the five states screening teacher candidates most stringently are Virginia, Vermont, Maryland, Georgia, and Arkansas. The five states with the lowest cut-scores are Montana, Mississippi, Louisiana, Nebraska, and Minnesota. Every candidate exiting an accredited teacher education program in Georgia takes Praxis II. Candidates who have completed an accredited program, but fail

Praxis II, may not be licensed in Georgia, thus nullifying approximately two years of college course work and a career path. According to ETS (2005-2006), Praxis II is intended to test teaching-field content knowledge, as well as general and subject specific pedagogical skills. Praxis II usually takes the form of a two-part, multiple-choice and essay test lasting four hours. Through this process, ETS decides who among Georgia's teacher education candidates will teach after four years of preparation (Wakefield 2003, p. 382).

Some states use Praxis III, which is taken during a beginning teacher's first year and is used to assess teaching practices. Intended for use in making certification decisions, these assessments are conducted in the classroom by local educators who use accepted standards to observe and evaluate a teacher's performance (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006).

In California, where thousands of teaching vacancies will open during the coming years, all aspiring elementary school teachers must pass the Multiple Subjects

Assessment for Teachers (MSAT), one of the Praxis II tests from the ETS. This test has high stakes. Teachers who have not taken the MSAT still get jobs. Districts can hire them as long as they agree to participate in appropriate workshops and prepare to take the test. Teachers cannot keep their jobs, however, if they do not eventually pass the test, and they cannot finish university preparation programs until they achieve the designated scores. Novice teachers must jump this important hurdle at the same time that they are working long day, learning new skills, and adapting to stressful circumstances in problem-ridden schools (Nagel & Peterson, 2001, p. 47).

The State of Maine has mandated that anyone applying for initial teacher certification must take and achieve qualifying scores on Praxis I PPST (University of Southern Maine, 2006). To enroll in certain education courses and be admitted to the Teacher Education Program at Indiana State University, candidates must pass the Praxis I exams (Indiana State University, 2006).

## **Admission Requirements**

Each state has different set requirements for entering a college of education which includes grade point average (GPA), admissions tests and other criteria. Alaska has no state policy for GPA but candidates must take and pass Praxis I. Alabama has a required minimum GPA of 2.5 and must pass Praxis I. Arizona varies in that the state allows each individual institution to decide GPA and admissions tests. Arkansas has no state policy for GPA but must pass Praxis I. California allows each individual institution to determine GPA requirements but does require students to take and pass CBEST. Colorado varies due to the state giving each institution the decision on GPA requirements and admissions tests. Connecticut requires a "B" average and requires students to take and pass Praxis I. Delaware leaves the decision up to each institution. Florida requires a 2.5 GPA and Praxis I. Georgia requires a 2.5 GPA and allows the institution the decision for admissions tests although most require Praxis I. Hawaii and Idaho, have no state policy on either GPA or admissions tests. Illinois has no state policy on GPA but does require Praxis I. Indiana and Iowa must both take and pass Praxis I. Maine and Maryland both require a 2.5 GPA and passage of Praxis I. Massachusetts has no policy set for GPA or admissions tests. Michigan allows institutional decisions for

both areas. Minnesota has no set GPA but does require Praxis I. Mississippi requires a 2.5 GPA and passing Praxis I. Missouri requires a 2.5 GPA and requires passage of CBASE. Montana leaves the decision of both GPA and admissions tests to the individual institutions. Nebraska requires a 2.5 and Praxis I. Nevada has no state policy for GPA or admissions tests. New Hampshire and New Jersey both require a minimum 2.5 GPA and Praxis I. New Mexico has no GPA or admission tests policies. New York leaves the decision of GPA and admissions test to each institution. North Carolina requires a 2.5 GPA and passage of Praxis I. North Dakota has no state policy for admissions. Ohio requires a 2.5 for public institutions and a 2.0 for private institutions and Praxis I. Oklahoma requires a 3.0 in the last 20 hours of liberal arts and science classes and a passing score on Praxis I or OGET is required if GPA requirement is not met. Oregon leaves the decision for admissions to each individual institution. Pennsylvania requires a 3.0 GPA and has no state policy for admissions tests though most require Praxis I. Rhode Island allows each institution to determine admission requirements. South Carolina requires a minimum 2.5 GPA and a passing score on Praxis I. For admissions in South Dakota, a GPA of 2.5 is required but has no state policy for admissions tests. Tennessee requires a 2.5 GPA and passage of Praxis I. Texas, Utah, and Vermont allow their individual institutions to decide their admission requirements. Virginia requires a 2.5 GPA and passage of Praxis I. Washington has no state policy for GPA but does require a passing score on WEST-B. West Virginia allows each institution to determine the admission requirements. Wisconsin requires a 2.5 GPA and a passing score on Praxis I. Wyoming has no state policy on GPA or admission test. The District of Columbia has no

set GPA but does require Praxis I (National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality, 2006).

TABLE 1

State	GPA	Admission Test(s)
Alaska	No	Praxis I
Alabama	2.5	Praxis I
Arizona	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
Arkansas	No	Praxis I
California	Each individual institution decides GPA	CBEST
Colorado	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
Connecticut	"B" average	Praxis I
Delaware	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
Florida	2.5	Praxis I
Georgia	2.5	Praxis I
Hawaii	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
Idaho	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
Illinois	Each individual institution decides GPA	Praxis I
Indiana	Each individual institution decides GPA	Praxis I
Iowa	Each individual institution decides GPA	Praxis I
Louisiana	2.5	Praxis I
Maine	2.5	Praxis I
Maryland	2.5	Praxis I
Massachusetts	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test

Table 1, continued

Michigan	Each individual institution	Each individual institution
	decides GPA	decides test
Minnesota	Each individual institution decides GPA	Praxis I
Mississippi	2.5	Praxis I
Missouri	2.5	CBASE
Montana	Each individual institution decides GPA	Praxis I
Nebraska	2.5	Praxis I
Nevada	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
New Hampshire	2.5	Praxis I
New Jersey	2.5	Praxis I
New Mexico	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
New York	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
North Carolina	2.5	Praxis I
North Dakota	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
Ohio	2.5	Praxis I
Oklahoma	3.0 in last 20 hours of liberal arts and science classes	Praxis I or OGET if GPA requirement is not met
Oregon	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
Pennsylvania	3.0	Praxis I
Rhode Island	Each individual institution decides GPA	Each individual institution decides test
South Carolina	2.5	Praxis I
South Dakota	2.5	Each individual institution decides test
Tennessee	2.5	Praxis I

Table 1, continued

Texas	Each individual institution	Each individual institution
	decides GPA	decides test
Utah	Each individual institution	Each individual institution
	decides GPA	decides test
Vermont	Each individual institution	Each individual institution
	decides GPA	decides test
Virginia	2.5	Praxis I
Washington	Each individual institution	WEST-B
	decides GPA	
West Virginia	Each individual institution	Each individual institution
	decides GPA	decides test
Wisconsin	2.5	Praxis I
Wyoming	Each individual institution	Each individual institution
	decides GPA	decides test
District of Columbia	Each individual institution	Praxis I
	decides GPA	

## Related Research

Pennington (2006) found that one-third to one-half of new teachers change careers before their fifth year. Novice teachers enter the classroom excited about teaching and expect that the students will be excited about learning (p. 13). Many new teachers are surprised to find out that for the most part this is not the case. They often become frustrated with students they can't seem to reach, lack of support from administrators, low salary, and limited appreciation from parents. Some of them begin to question if this is the field for them and leave the profession shortly after they begin. In 2000, Arkansas invested \$2.9 million in the Pathwise Mentoring/Classroom Observation System. The Pathwise System was developed by ETS to provide first-year teachers with a trained mentor. Arkansas did adopt the Pathwise System where mentors assist new teachers for their first three years (p. 13).

Scott (2001) conducted a study to examine a program with both mandatory mentoring and high-stakes performance-based assessments of new teachers. The results indicated that mentoring was beneficial whereas the high-stakes performance-based assessments failed to show evidence of effectiveness in many areas.

In 2003, the Ohio Department of Education trained 3,000 assessors to observe and determine whether first-year teachers would receive a professional teaching license. All new teachers must take Praxis III in which assessors observe and grade classroom performance. Teachers, retired teachers, district staff, and college faculty with K-12 experience may serve as an assessor (Darling-Hammond & Ifill-Lynch, 2006, p. 122).

In 2003, the National Education Association honored eight programs for successful mentoring programs that produce quality teachers (Darling-Hammond, 2005, p. 238). The winners focused on efforts to assist new teachers and their contribution to increased teacher-retention rates. Glendale Union High retained 90 percent of their first-year teachers. Participants attributed part of the program's success to the mentoring program. In Thousand Oaks, California the Conejo Peer Assistance and Review Program, which includes mentoring of new teachers, has retained 98 percent of new teachers. Canton, Ohio had only one out of 175 novice teachers to leave the teaching profession. The Plain Local Schools in Canton use a program that partners experienced teachers with new teachers for up to five years. In Fairfield, Ohio, new teachers must pass a "rigorous" state licensure exam. 97 percent of the novice teachers were retained. Youngstown City School District in Ohio was one of the first districts to establish a mentoring program using a state grant. The New Educators' Support Team pairs mentors

and new educators by building, subject-area, and grade level. 92 percent of these first year teachers were still employed and all but one participant passed Praxis III. In Illinois, Homewood-Flossmoor High improved from 36 percent to nearly 100 percent in just three years. Mentors were selected based on their enthusiasm and exemplary teaching skills. New teachers in Greenburg, Pennsylvania participated in a three-year mentor program. In six years only one new teacher left the profession. A mentoring program in Antigo, Wisconsin allowed mentors and mentees to earn graduate credits while pairing in a three-year curriculum (Loeb & Darling-Hammond, 2005, p. 239).

Nikos Bozionelos (2003) explored the practice of mentoring as it related with mentors' career successes, personalities, and the quality of mentoring the mentors themselves had received. The results suggested that mentoring has positive consequences for the mentors' careers and the quality of mentoring that the mentors themselves had received played a part in the quality of their current mentoring practice (p. 423).

As the aforementioned studies revealed, qualitative studies have shown to be an excellent fit for the investigation of mentoring. However, gaps in the literature are revealed when one seeks to find studies that examine the LaTAAP and Praxis. A qualitative study based on any relationships between public school teachers who completed LaTAAP and Praxis would stand to benefit not only the teacher, but also the mentors, administrators, students, and staff developers who constitute our educational systems.

#### CHAPTER THREE

## Design and Methodology

Data were collected exclusively from a small group of Louisiana State University at Alexandria graduates who completed LaTAAP over the past four years. Follow-up questions for any responses requiring clarification were asked via individual email.

# Organization of the Chapter

This chapter focuses on the study's methodological design. Sections of this chapter include the purpose of the study, research question, qualitative research rationale, pilot study, participant selection, design of the study, data collection, data analysis, and trustworthiness.

# Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was intended to address relationships by investigating the factors identified by novice teachers as influencing their performance on Praxis and LaTAAP.

# **Research Question**

The central research question was developed based on an extensive review of literature, gaps in the research, interviews, and my own personal experiences as a trained external evaluator of LaTAAP. The central research question is:

What factors or issues are identified by novice teachers as influences on their performance in standardized assessments and classroom teaching effectiveness?

#### Treatment

The treatment is standard for all participants due to Louisiana policies and guidelines for teacher certification. Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment

Program (LaTAAP) is a state-mandated program with a wealth of materials designed to assist and support new teachers, mentors, and assessment teams (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006). LaTAAP emphasizes on ensuring success through mentoring and assisting new teachers. A long-range goal of the LaTAAP is to enhance student learning by providing teachers opportunities to strengthen skill areas and by identifying those aspects of teaching performance that may need improvement (Jefferson Parish Public Schools, 2006).

LaTAAP is a uniform statewide program for new teachers entering service for the first time in a Louisiana Public School System. It is the purpose of LaTAAP to provide new teaching employees of the public school systems with planned program of leadership and support from experienced educators during the most formative stages of a teacher's experience in Louisiana schools. LaTAAP provides a structured support program for new teachers and ensure that the alternative certification teacher understands and embodies the Louisiana Components of Effective Teachers. These components are considered the foundations for quality classroom instruction (University of Louisiana Monroe [ULM], 2006). It is further the purpose of LaTAAP to provide assurance to the state, prior to the issuance of a permanent Louisiana teacher certificate, that the new teaching employee demonstrates competency in the understanding and use of the Louisiana Components of Effective Teaching, determined by the state to be the basis for effective professional performance. These components of Effective Teaching are the basis of the assessment criteria.

The Louisiana Components of Effective Teaching are Louisiana's Teaching Standards for both new and experienced teachers. These Components have been

developed from the professional knowledge base on teaching and "craft knowledge" acquired by experienced educators. An advisory panel reviewed the professional knowledge base on teaching by examining research-based teacher assessment and evaluation documents from eight states (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

The LaTAAP program consists of four semesters: semester 1 includes Assistance; semester 2 also includes Assistance; semester 3 includes Assessment; and semester 4 includes Assistance (Jefferson Parish Public Schools, 2006). Through LaTAAP, each new teacher is assigned a mentor teacher who helps him or her transition into the career of education as successfully and effectively as possible (St. John the Baptist Parish Public Schools, 2006).

Each new teacher during the first semester and throughout the first two years of employment is provided a mentor who will lead professional development activities designed to enhance teacher competencies found to be essential to student learning.

During the third semester of employment, the new teacher will also be assigned an assessment team consisting of the principal or principal's designee and an assessor from outside the building. Data are collected by this assessment team as the basis for recommendations to the Louisiana Department of Education (LDOE) and the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (SBESE) regarding the teacher's certification.

During the third semester, the mentor teacher will continue to provide a program of encouragement, support, and professional development. The mentor has no role or responsibility in the assessment process or the certification recommendation (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003, p. 78).

The assessment process should focus on the identification of patterns of behavior. The assistance process should focus on improvement of teaching performance as defined by the Louisiana Components of Effective Teaching (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003, p. 79).

During the new teacher's second semester of teaching, the principal, mentor, and the teacher will create a professional growth plan focused on the teacher's weaker Components and Attributes as defined through the mentoring process. The completed plan must be submitted as part of the new teacher's portfolio (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Training Manual, 2002-2003, p. 80).

Professional development planning begins with the Assistance Period and continues throughout the new teacher's career. The plan developed during the Assistance Period will be submitted and rated as part of the new teacher's portfolio. Every new teacher has a second Professional Growth Plan at the conclusion of the Assessment Semester, regardless of the certification recommendation (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Training Manual, 2002-2003, p. 80).

The Louisiana mentor program constitutes one part of the LaTAAP which is designed to help the new teacher become a competent, confident professional in the classroom as quickly as possible and to offer support and assistance as they meet the performance standards established as a criterion for certification. Although the assessors will provide some assistance to the new teacher during the assessment semester, it is the two-year mentoring process that constitutes the Assistance Period. The mentoring program is designed to help the new teacher become a competent, confident professional in the classroom as quickly as possible and to assist the new teacher in meeting the

performance standards established as a criterion for certification (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

At the beginning of the teacher's first year of experience in a Louisiana public school classroom, they are assigned a mentor teacher by the building principal or school system. That mentor provides a variety of support and technical assistance throughout the first two years. The mentor is not an assessor, but uses the same data collection instruments or forms and procedures as assessors use to help the new teacher analyze instruction and improve instructional performance (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

A mentor is an experienced teacher who has accepted the opportunity to enhance the training and professional development of a new teacher in LaTAAP. The mentor teacher plays a vital role in getting the new teacher ready to be an effective teacher. The State Teacher Assistance and Assessment process is a vehicle to enable the new teacher to become effective. The mentor is not an assessor of the new teacher. The mentor offers the new teacher opportunities to share and to learn with an experienced colleague. The exchange between mentor and new teacher is confidential (Jefferson Parish Public Schools, 2006).

During the second year, the new teacher will also be assigned an assessment team consisting of the principal or principal designee and an assessor from outside the building. Each assessor will visit once to collect data upon which to base the team's certification recommendation. In the event two members are in disagreement over the certification recommendation and the disagreement cannot be resolved, the Local Education Agency (LEA) Contact Person will appoint a third assessor external to the

school. The mentor has no role or responsibility in the assessment process or the certification recommendation (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003, p. 92).

Mentors and new teachers should be matched by grade level and subject areas, when possible. Regular education teachers should be paired, and special education teachers should be paired. Mentors should be accessible to the new teacher by teaching in the same building or having flexible schedules (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

The formal roles of a mentor are to coach, model, and to serve as a professional development specialist (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003). Those who serve as mentors to Louisiana's new teachers must themselves be competent, caring teachers. Rigorous and comprehensive training as mentors and assessors is essential for the mentor. The mentor must have excellent communication and interpersonal skills and must be fair, objective, honest, and ethical (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003).

The two basic uses of the assessment system of LaTAAP are first to develop information about the new teacher's competence that can be used to structure instructional improvement activities and second to develop information upon which sound decisions about the new teacher's qualifications for certification can be based. The assessment system is used in an advisory manner by the mentor and the principal during the second semester of a teacher's employment to develop a profile of strengths and needs that is then used to assist the new teacher in their professional development.

During the new teachers third semester of employment, the system is used to collect data and the assessment team recommends either certification or continuation in the assistance and assessment program. If a new teacher is recommended to continue in the assistance and assessment program and does not demonstrate competence by the end of the fourth semester they will be denied regular certification ([Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], 2006).

The long-range goal of the Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program is to enhance student learning by providing to teachers opportunities to strengthen skill areas and by identifying those aspects of teaching performance that may need improvement. This approach to professional development is the key to improving teacher performance (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003).

If a new teacher is recommended to continue in the assistance and assessment program, assistance and assessment are continued in accordance with the pattern used in the third semester. A new teacher who does not demonstrate competence by the end of the fourth semester will be denied regular certification and will have to leave teaching in Louisiana public schools for at least two years (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003).

# Table 2 NEW TEACHER ASSESSMENT PROCESS

# Assessor A

Informal Conference Observation Post Conference Portfolio Scoring

# Assessor B

Informal Conference Observation Post Conference Portfolio Scoring

# **Assessor Team Meeting**

Team Summary Report Areas for Improvement

# **Teacher Summary Conference**

Share summary report; Share certification Recommendation; and Develop PGP

# Assessor C

(when agreement is not reached)

Informal Conference Observation Post Conference Portfolio Scoring

# **Assessor Team Meeting**

Team Summary Report Areas for Improvement

.....

Louisiana Department of Education, Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003.

During the assistance period, assessors will provide assistance to the new teacher. This assistance takes place during the assessment semester for a two-year period. This mentoring program assists new teachers to become effective and confident professionals in the classroom. The assistance process should focus on improvement of teaching performance as defined by the Louisiana Components of Effective Teaching. It also helps new teachers achieve certification (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003).

All new teachers will develop a Professional Growth Plan (PGP) as part of their first year assistance period. The PGP is an effort put forth by the mentor, the principal, and the new teacher. After the principal and the mentor observe the new teacher, the PGP may be formulated. The PGP is a vital section of the new teacher's portfolio (Louisiana Department of Education [LDOE], Professional Development Manual, 2002-2003).

Some benefits new teachers will receive are feedback regarding planning, classroom, and instructional strategies; an in-depth understanding of LaTAAP; additional in-classroom observations with feedback in relation to the Louisiana Components of Effective Teaching; positive attention, support, and encouragement; and reassurance that they are developing professionally (Jefferson Parish Public Schools, 2006).

#### Praxis – Standardized Assessment

The Praxis is a series of tests developed by Educational Testing Service (ETS) that provides tests and other services for states to use as a part of their teacher licensing and certification process. Some colleges and universities use the Praxis Series assessments to evaluate individuals entering teacher education programs. Professional

associations and organizations may also require the Praxis Series as a criterion for professional licensing decisions (The Praxis Series Bulletin, 2005-06).

The Praxis Series is developed by educators for educators. Advisory committees of distinguished teachers, teacher educators, key administrators, and professional organizations help determine test content and review, revise, and approve all questions and exercises. The Praxis Series is grounded in current research, including a complete job analysis of the most important tasks and skills required of beginning teachers and extensive surveys to confirm test validity (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006).

The Praxis Series includes two types of assessments that correspond in the development of a teacher. The first assessment milestone is used to determine entrance into a teacher-training program. The second milestone is to obtain a license to teach (The Praxis Series Bulletin, 2005-06). The tests include content-specific tests, pedagogical tests, and basic skills tests. The Praxis tests are developed to measure specific content and pedagogical skills and knowledge for beginning teaching practice. The Praxis Series assessments are designed to be comprehensive and inclusive (The Praxis Series Bulletin, 2005-2006).

For each test, a job analysis survey is conducted to determine what a representative group of teachers and teacher educators believe that a newly licensed or certified teacher of a particular subject or grade level should know in order to perform his or her job competently. Based on the job analysis as well as any national disciplinary standards that may apply, an Advisory Committee of teachers and teacher educators defines the content areas that should be covered on the test, and then creates

specifications to guide the development effort (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006).

Test development specialists and practicing teachers use this information to develop test questions. Once developed, the questions undergo a series of reviews conducted by the Advisory Committee, content experts, and ETS staff to confirm that they cover the content defined in the test specifications. At every step in the test development process, ETS follows well-established industry procedures and standards to assure that the test is measuring what it is intended to measure. This iterative process creates clear links between the skills and knowledge being measured and content of the test (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006).

Praxis I: Pre-Professional Skills Tests (PPST) is intended to be taken early in a candidate's college career to measure basic skills in reading, writing, and mathematics skills. The PPST features multiple-choice items in Reading and Mathematics. The Writing test includes both multiple-choice questions and an essay section. PPST is available in two formats including paper-based and computer-based. The Praxis II: Subject Assessments is taken by every candidate exiting an accredited teacher education program in the state where Praxis is required. Praxis II measures your content knowledge of the subjects you will teach. The Praxis II: Subject Assessments include four areas of testing including Specialty Area Tests, Multiple Subject Assessment for Teachers (MSAT), Principles of Learning and Teaching (PLT), and Teaching Foundations. The Specialty Area Tests are multiple-choice and constructed-response items that measure general and subject-specific teaching skills and knowledge. MSAT was developed to assess knowledge and high-order thinking skills of prospective elementary school

teachers. PLT uses a case study approach with constructed-response and multiple-choice items to measure pedagological knowledge at grade levels. The Teaching Foundations Tests feature constructed-response and multiple-choice items to assess pedagogy in multi-subjects (The Praxis Series Bulletin, 2005-2006). A minimum Scholastic Assessment Test (SAT) score of 1,000, with at least 480 verbal and 520 math, exempts a candidate from PRAXIS I. PRAXIS II usually takes the form of a two-part, multiple-choice and essay test lasting four hours (Wakefield, 2003, p. 384).

Praxis I is the first high-stakes hurdle for those considering teaching. Test questions focus on ones ability to make decisions about relationships in data, sentence structure errors, and paragraph organization. This poses few problems for the average Asian-American or European-American candidate; however, the average African American or average Latin American may face problems in Praxis I (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006).

Students from historically disadvantaged school districts are not getting the same education as those from historically affluent districts. Evertson and Smithey (2000) predicted that candidates from the South's "Black Belt" would be fortunate to graduate from high school under new test-for-promotion reforms, much less qualify for candidacy in teacher education programs (p. 8). Praxis I blocks the entry into teacher education for many minority and low-income candidates, while Praxis II blocks the exit. If education programs earn licensure rights according to their Praxis II pass rate, we can expect schools serving disadvantaged populations to discontinue teacher education as well as a decrease in diversity among teachers (Creswell, 1998, p. 57).

Nearly 80 percent of states that include tests as part of their teacher licensure process rely on The Praxis Series. The Praxis Series and related assessments are designed to be used principally in connection with other criteria by state authorities for the purpose of licensing education professionals. Test scores used to inform such credentialing decisions must be supported by appropriate validity evidence. ETS employs a comprehensive validation process for this test score use that is consistent with best practices (Educational Testing Services [ETS], 2005-2006).

The Praxis Series is currently required for teacher licensure in 44 states and U.S. jurisdictions. These tests are also used by several professional licensing agencies and by several hundred colleges and universities. Because The Praxis Series tests are used to license teachers in many states, teacher candidates can test in one state and submit their scores for licensure in any other Praxis user state (The Praxis Series Bulletin, 2005-2006).

ETS ensures Praxis tests are valid and fair by determining the connection between the content of a test and the knowledge and/or skills judged important for entry-level practice. This is accomplished through multiple means, beginning with a systematic analysis of job requirements. This analysis involves obtaining the input of representative samples of educators and reviewing national disciplinary standards. Committees of educators then work with ETS's subject experts to conduct reviews for the appropriateness and fairness of test content. The process culminates with passing-score or standard-setting studies conducted by each state or licensing agency, during which the job relatedness of the test content for the state's entry-level teachers is evaluated (The Praxis Series Bulletin, 2005-06).

## Qualitative Research

Creswell (1998) describes qualitative research as giving up an authoritative stance by no longer professing to know everything but claiming to know something in an effort to "ever hope to speak authentically of the experiences of the other" (p. 577). Lincoln and Guba (1985) also suggest four underlying paradigms for qualitative research: positivism, post-positivism, critical theory, and constructivism (p. 17). Glesne (1999) suggest three paradigms: positivist research, interpretive research and critical research (p. 33). An interpretive approach, (phenomenological approach), will be applied to this study in an attempt to understand the program phenomena through the meanings of the teachers who participated in LaTAAP. Interpretive studies generally attempt to understand phenomena through the meanings that people assign to them. This method of research is "aimed at producing an understanding of the context of the information system, and the process whereby the information system influences and is influenced by the context" (Creswell, 1998, p. 34-35).

Qualitative researchers' knowledge is always partial because it is situated in a particular (historical) context, with the reasonable hope that the description and analysis of the complexities of a study will identify concepts not previously seen or fully appreciated. "The qualitative researcher is sometimes described as a translator of culture" (Glesne, 1999, p. 156). The researcher, who serves as an objective middleperson, works to understand and translate the lives of others in a meaningful account. Qualitative researchers' interpretations depend on their own experiences, knowledge and theoretical dispositions, and collected data to present their understanding

of research participant's experiences by developing a sense of meaning in their own lives (Glesne, 1999, p. 157-158).

# **Participant Selection**

The Chair of the department of Education at LSUA was asked to identify participants who were currently teaching, had passed all required components of Praxis, and had participated in LaTAAP during the past four years, and currents. Fourteen potential participants for the study were identified. Of the fourteen identified teachers, ten responded to the initial letter agreeing to participate in the study. Confidentiality was assured to all participants, an introductory letter (see Appendix A) and a consent form (see Appendix B) were presented to participants at the outset of the data gathering process. All ten teachers completed all interviews and focus groups conducted in the study.

## Design of the Study

# Phenomenological Methodology

A phenomenological approach was applied because it alone among qualitative research methodologies (biography, phenomenological study, grounded theory study, ethnography, and case study (Creswell, 1998, p. 101) focuses on "experience and understanding" (Imel, et al., 2000, p. 4). "Phenomenology has been referred to as a philosophy, a paradigm, a methodology, and equated with qualitative methods of research and naturalistic enquiry" (Patton, 1989, p. 68). Data were collected through interviews and focus groups. Both of these are acceptable phenomenological methodologies (Spiegelberg, 1976, p. 12; Vankaam, 1966, p. 44; and Giorgi, 1971, p. 14).

Phenomenologist must put themselves in the place of others (Hilton, 2002, p. 249). "A phenomenological study focuses on the essence or structure of an experience" (Merriam, 1983, p. 166). Inner experiences are compared and analyzed to identify the essences of the phenomenon being studied. Phenomenological philosophy is philosophical criticism "characterized by the universality which criticism is systematically practiced" (Weiss, 1994, p. 88) and criticism "in the systematically adopted attitude of disengagement" (Imel, 2000, p. 19).

## Phenomenology - History

Phenomenological research, based on the philosophies of Edmund Husserl and Martin Heidegger (Kerry & Armour, 2000, p. 16), was defined in 1931 by Husserl as a descriptive analysis of the essence of pure consciousness. Phenomenology, according to Husserl, "must claim to be 'first' philosophy and to offer the means for carrying out every possible critique of reason" (Husserl, 1971, p. 78) while also serving as a theoretical discipline (Weiss, 1994, p. 63). Husserl developed three key ideas or common themes of phenomenology: meaning, consciousness, and intentionality (Husserl, 1931, p. 42). Husserl called upon phenomenologist to "set aside all previous habits of thought" and "learn to see what stands before our eyes" (1931, p. 43) while viewing "intentionality" as creating the assumption that we are always engaged in the world (Willis, 1996, p. 334). Heidegger (1954), a student of Husserl, felt that Husserl's thinking was trapped by its relationship to a concept of God and the transcendent (p. 1). While Husserl thought philosophy to be a scientific discipline that had to be founded on a phenomenology understood as epistemology, Heidegger radically changed this view. Instead of taking phenomenology as "prima philosophia" (Heidegger, 1954, p.2) or

foundational discipline, Heidgger took it as a metaphysical ontology: He believed that phenomenological inquiry involves "thrusting aside our interpretative tendencies...because these tendencies conceal the entities...we encounter...of their own accord in our concern with them" (Heidegger, 1962, p. 96. According to Heidegger, philosophy was not at all a scientific discipline but more fundamental than science itself (1954). He believed that modern philosophy had forgotten the question of being ("isness") and being as the subject of discourse or self-direction (p. 4). Therefore, phenomenology must be interpretive because truth is both concealing and revealing (Heidegger, 1954, p. 5). Phenomenology emerged, in the early 1960's, as an educational research methodology (Vandenberg, 1987, p. 1) due to a strong move to an interpretive or qualitative approach (Burns, 1992, p. 2). Educational administration researchers, such as Vandenberg (1971) utilized phenomenological methodologies to investigate educational administration phenomena (Gronn, 1983, p. 4).

#### **Data Collection**

The data gathering techniques that were used in this study consisted of individual interviews and focus groups. The individual interviews were approximately 60 minutes in length. The focus groups were approximately 90 minutes in length. The interviews were tape recorded and then transcribed into written format.

The individual interviews consisted of open-ended questions designed to reveal demographic details of the participants. The questions were informed by the literature, revealed gaps in the literature, the personal experiences of the teachers, and my own personal mentoring experiences. Participants were encouraged to reflect upon their past educational and personal experiences which inspired them to become teachers. It became

obvious during the initial interview that the teachers were interested in and emotional about both their Praxis experience and the mentoring component of LaTAAP. These factors contributed to a very direct response to all questions resulting in confident reflections of relevant issues.

The focus group interviews consisted of open-ended questions designed to reveal the personal reflections of the participants as they relived their mentoring experiences through their story telling. The goal of the focus groups was to become a flexible tool to elicit perceptions, feelings, attitudes, and ideas of the participants from a wide range of perspectives. Each person's point of view was heard and encouragement was given to participants to express different points of view. The focus groups were utilized to encourage interaction not only between the researcher and the participants, but also among the participants themselves. The group format offered support for individual participants and encouraged greater openness in their responses (Vaughn, Schumm, & Sinagub, 1996, p. 59).

The following table illustrates the purpose of the interviews and focus groups and sample questions used.

Table 3

Purposes and Questions of Interviews and Focus Groups

PURPOSE	QUESTIONS
Interview –  The purpose of the interview is to reveal demographic details of the participants, participants' past educational and personal	<ol> <li>Why did you decide to become a teacher?</li> <li>How long have you been in the teaching profession?</li> </ol>
mentors, and participants' experiences which inspired them to become teachers.	<ul><li>3. Tell me about any mentors who influenced/assisted you.</li><li>4. Were there any factors, issues or variables that may have affected your</li></ul>

Table 3, continued

	Praxis scores? If so, please explain.  5. Were there any factors, issues or variables that may have affected your LaTAAP score? If so, please explain.  6. How would you describe your teaching experiences?  7. How would you describe your
	experiences of being mentored?
Focus Group 1 –  The purpose of focus group 1 is to elicit the reflections of the participants with regard to the impact of the mentoring experience on their teaching methods and roles as teachers.	<ol> <li>Have you gained new insights into your professional practice by being mentored?</li> <li>How has the mentoring experience directly impacted your teaching methods?</li> <li>How has the mentoring experiences impacted your understanding of the roles of teachers?</li> </ol>
Focus Group 2 –  The purpose of focus group 2 is to	Are the findings that I have presented to you correct and valid?      Is the presented to find findings which
debrief participants, present findings, provide opportunity for verification of findings, and provide opportunity for suggestions for further research.	<ul><li>2. Is there any part of the findings which you feel could be problematic to your personal lives or professional practice?</li><li>3. Do you have any suggestions for further research?</li></ul>

## Trustworthiness

The credibility of findings and interpretations of findings depend upon one's careful attention to establishing trustworthiness (Glesne, 1999, p. 90). Trustworthiness is a term that reflects research validity. It is an issue that should be thought about during research design as well as in the midst of data collection (Glesne, 1999, p. 97-98).

Trustworthiness was shown through examination and review of previous studies that held similar research approaches and methods. Several qualitative research studies with phenomenological approaches were cited and investigated in the *Design of the Study* section of this chapter. Citation and discussion of these studies aided in validating and

upholding the trustworthiness of the qualitative design and phenomenological approach which were chosen as the basis for this investigative study.

Weiss (1994) stated that "qualitative interviews regularly bring the ordinarily private into view" (p. 121). With this admission into the private lives of participants, it was imperative to establish interview protocol before the process began. Application was made to the University of New Orleans Committee on the Use of Human Subjects and approval was given before the participants were interviewed. Participants were assured of confidentiality. The participants were assured that the interview process is a non-threatening situation and one in which they could stop at any time. Participants were encouraged to share truthfully. It is reasonable to assume, however, that if participants want to keep certain events or behaviors to themselves, they would certainly have done so. Every effort was made to establish a good interviewing partnership with participants based on trust, confidentiality, and rapport was practiced by the interviewer. This partnership was one of the best guarantees of the validity of the interview process and also helped to establish the trustworthiness of the study.

Subjectivity has long been considered something which one desires to keep out of research. Qualitative researchers, however, have begun to claim that subjectivity, when recognized, "can be monitored for more trustworthy research and can contribute to research" (Glesne, 1999, p. 105). According to Glesne (1999), reflecting on one's own autobiography and the way it intersects with the research topic contributes to the control of subjectivity and the utilization of it within the study (p. 106).

Trustworthiness in this study was verified through debriefing of participants. This was accomplished through a focus group meeting held at the conclusion of the data

gathering process. The participants were asked to verify that their perspectives were reflected. They were also asked to inform the researcher of any part of the research that they felt could be problematic to their personal lives or professional practice.

In conclusion, a peer debriefer was utilized to enhance the validity of the study and promote trustworthiness. The peer debriefer was asked to review the study periodically, asking questions and raising concerns when necessary. The addition of external reflection by a person outside the research arena provided "an external check of the research process" (Creswell, 1998, p. 202) and also provide invaluable assistance to the researcher.

## Data Analysis

Analysis of the data began with transcription of the audiotapes from the individual interviews. Rather than have the participants complete a lengthy specified demographic form, participant responses to interview questions provided the necessary information to develop an appropriate descriptive summary of each participant. With Praxis and LaTAAP as the focal points of the study, the questioning created limited parameters to participant responses. Praxis generated concise, opinionated responses nearly universal in nature. Their mentor and the mentoring process were readily recognized as the common themes for all participants when asked about LaTAAP.

The interviews set the stage for the subsequent focus groups as open-ended questions were developed partially from information gained during the individual interviews and supported by previously reviewed literature. Results of the interviews revealed strong opinions related to the standardized testing experiences while providing only a basis for investigation of the impact of mentoring on their lives. Three questions

emerged consistent with the intended purpose of the first focus group: to elicit reflections of the participants with the regard to the impact of the mentoring experience on their teaching methods and roles as teachers.

The final focus group was designed as a means of debriefing participants and providing an opportunity for verification of findings. Participants were provided with a copy of their participant profile and an eight page summary of the study findings. All participants accepted their profile as valid, agreed with the findings of the study, and offered only a few suggestions for future research.

# **Summary**

Information gathered in this study began with a foundational belief that specific factors or issues would be identifiable by novice teachers as impacting their performance on various forms of assessment. Through individual interviews and focus group, information was pursued on a personal level to identify those factors or issues. In spite of the open-endedness of the questioning, participants provided a narrow, linear path to factor identification.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

# **Findings**

#### Introduction

This chapter introduces the participants of this study and relates their personal reflections with regard to their Praxis and LaTAAP experiences. Their unique stories are described through their own words and show the significance that each participant places on the various aspects and components of their teaching practice.

This chapter also discusses the commonalities of the participants' Praxis and LaTAAP experiences and the factors impacting those experiences. These commonalities were discovered as coding and analysis of the data occurred. Themes revealed through this process included issues concerning professional growth, mentor training, testing and personal effects of LaTAAP.

# Meeting the Participants

Nancy

Nancy realized early in her life that she wanted to be a teacher. Her family consists of many teachers so she decided to follow in those teachers' footsteps. She has been teaching for four years. After receiving her B.S. degree in elementary education, she attended graduate school and earned a Master's degree in Library Science. She currently teaches third grade in a rural elementary school in central Louisiana.

Nancy had high passing scores on Praxis. She passed all three sections of Praxis the first time she took the exam. Nancy's GPA was a 3.975 therefore her high scores were expected. She also was selected as the best student teacher while attending undergraduate school.

Nancy completed all requirements for LaTAAP with no problems. She spoke of mentors who influenced her:

A college professor at LSUA, had a passion for learning and teaching that spilled over into me. She had a love for the children and for the career. My student teaching mentor also had a positive influence on me. She too was in love with teaching. She was an excellent mentor. By student teaching under her leadership I was able to see theory put into action.

Nancy now serves as a student teacher mentor and as a LaTAAP mentor. She has participated in the mentoring program since her initial training. She has participated as a mentee and as a mentor. She stated that LaTAAP meets the needs of mentee teachers.

Nancy stated:

Through LaTAAP, I had a wonderful mentor. I cannot imagine going through my first year without my LaTAAP mentor. She was my rock. I went to her for questions, answers, and guidance. LaTAAP kept me afloat during this unsure and scary time in my career.

Nancy said that both of her mentees have been in the same areas of teaching. She plans to continue mentoring. She spoke of how LaTAAP is really making a positive difference in the lives of new teachers.

Jeri

Jeri did not have teaching in mind as a profession while she was growing up. She was very interested in sports and medicine and thought of becoming a pharmacist. It was through the influence of a high school coach who was also one of her teachers that Jeri decided to major in education. She received her college degree in Elementary Education with an Early Childhood add-on certification. She has been teaching pre-school for four years. She currently teaches in a pre-k through 12 school in central Louisiana. Jeri has been a LaTAAP mentor for one year.

Jeri had some trouble passing Praxis. Even though she graduated with a 3.5 GPA she failed Praxis the first two times she took it. She was persistent and eventually passed the exam. Jeri said that she never has done well on standardized tests. She stated that she has a phobia and experiences true test anxiety when it comes to these types of exams.

Jeri completed all requirements for LaTAAP her first try. She stated:

I know that I'm a good teacher. Praxis is a money making gimmick. There is no way for a test to determine if one will be a good teacher. LaTAAP is much more accurate. You are actually teaching children while being mentored and evaluated. LaTAAP allows you to put theory into practice. LaTAAP is a much more accurate tool to determine teacher effectiveness than Praxis.

Jeri stated that she had a wonderful LaTAAP mentor. She helped plan her units for the week and guided her through the teaching process. Jeri said she feels like teaching is what God wants her to do and it brings joy to her life.

#### Melanie

Beginning in her high school years, Melanie began to realize that she wanted to become a teacher. "I felt like I would be interested in trying to be an influence for students – an individual that they would want to be like or see as an example". One of her high school teachers played an important role in helping her realize her future profession. As Melanie watched this teacher interact with the students, she "saw the way that she was able to handle students and be helpful to them – giving them a reason to be respectful and to behave". Upon completing high school, Melanie left for college with her future profession firmly decided. She would become a teacher.

Melanie graduated from college with a degree in Elementary Education. Her first job was as a first grade teacher. Since then, she has taught second and fourth grade. She

is presently teaching second grade for a pre-k through 4 school in southwest Louisiana. She has been teaching a total of four years.

Melanie passed Praxis the first time taking it with no problem. She graduated with a 2.856 GPA, slightly above the minimum requirement for education majors, but she scored high on Praxis. She said that all through school she never had a high GPA but always seem to test well on standardized tests.

Melanie did struggle somewhat with LaTAAP in the beginning. She contributes her success in LaTAAP to her mentor. She stated that "without my mentor I'm not sure I would have lasted the entire first year".

Melanie's positive attitude toward LaTAAP began during her first year of teaching. Her assigned mentor was very helpful and Melanie "was very confident that if I had a problem or question, I could go to her and she would answer it". Melanie saw mentoring as "something very beneficial". She shared that she was "glad I had that as a new teacher". After her successful experience with LaTAAP, Melanie began to investigate the requirements to become a mentor. She spoke to her principal about her desire to become a mentor and her wish was granted. Her principal asked her to become a mentor and attend mentor training.

#### Joe David

Joe David decided early in his childhood that he wanted to teach physical education. He loved all sports and any type of physical activity. He attended LSUA and obtained a degree in Education.

Joe David's dream of becoming a physical education teacher came true. He began teaching at a rural school in central Louisiana. He now teaches grades Pre-K through 6. He has been teaching for three years.

Joe David had to take Praxis twice. He failed Praxis the first time he took it but passed his second go around. Joe David typically scored well on standardized tests so he was surprised when he did not pass it the first time. His college GPA was a 3.233.

Joe David said his experience with LaTAAP was pleasant. His LaTAAP mentor was his eighth grade teacher. The two of them had fun reminiscing. Joe David stated "my experience with LaTAAP was most helpful and enlightening". He too, stated that the first year would have been overwhelming had it not been for the help of his mentor. He said, "my mentor showed me ways to stay organized". Joe David has a desire to become a LaTAAP mentor in the near future. He wants to teach another year or two before making that a reality.

#### Lacie

Lacie began to have feelings about her future in the teaching profession in the seventh or eighth grade. She asserted that teaching is a calling from God and she strongly believes she was called to teach. By the time Lacie reached high school, she had decided to become an early childhood teacher. She attended college and obtained a degree in Elementary Education with an add-on in Early Childhood Education. Lacie passed Praxis on her first try. Lacie graduated with a perfect 4.0 and has always done extremely well with standardized tests.

Lacie began her teaching career in an inner-city school in Louisiana. She taught kindergarten for two years and is currently teaching Pre-k. Lacie has been in the teaching profession for three years.

## Lacie stated:

LaTAAP helped me to gain new insights into my professional practice by being mentored. The mentoring experiences impacted my understanding of my role as a teacher. My mentor helped with time management, discipline, and planning. I probably could have survived without LaTAAP but I would not have wanted to try.

Lacie plans to become a LaTAAP mentor in the next couple of years. She asserted that LaTAAP is making a positive difference in the teaching profession.

Kate

When Kate was a child, she remembered playing with siblings, other relatives, and friends, pretending she was a teacher. She loved school and said that being a teacher has always been in the back of her mind. She candidly admitted, however, that teaching began to really appeal to her when she got older and began to think about a profession that would allow her to be with her children. She stated that "as a mother, it was an ideal job".

Kate began college, but soon dropped out when the first of her three children began to arrive. When her youngest child was four years old, Kate decided to return to college. She went to school three days a week. Kate worked very hard to earn her B.S. in Elementary Education. She acknowledged that she had to study late at night or early in the morning while her three children were sleeping. Defying all odds, Kate graduated and is so proud of her accomplishments.

Kate has taught for four years. Her first two years were spent teaching second grade. She loved teaching second grade but her principal asked her to move to fourth grade. Kate's principal thought that she was a strong teacher and the school needed her for LEAP preparation.

Passing Praxis was not a problem for Kate. She passed the exam on her first attempt. Kate was a little apprehensive going into the exam. She had not scored as well as she desired on the ACT. Her college GPA was a 2.68.

Kate was excited to get started with LaTAAP. She met all areas for LaTAAP certification. Kate stated:

My mentor works very well with the new teachers in LaTAAP. She was very open with me and I felt she really cared. She made sure I stayed on top of my assignments and that they were completed to the best of our abilities. I was very comfortable working with her and I know she will be there if and when I need her.

In the near future, Kate intends to become a LaTAAP mentor. She stated that LaTAAP is having a positive impact on the lives of teachers and students.

Beth

As Beth was growing up, she had more challenges than the average child. Both of Beth's parents were deaf. She not only had to learn to speak English but also American Sign Language. Beth's parents were also much older than her friend's parents. Her mother was forty and her father was forty-three when she was born.

Beth always knew she wanted to be a teacher. She has two older sisters who are in the education field. One is an elementary teacher and the other is a middle school administrator. Beth stated:

The main reason I became a teacher is my love for children. I enjoy working with the children, learning their personalities, and to hopefully be a positive influence in their lives. I feel that becoming an educator is one of my greatest accomplishments. I hope to one day have a family and I feel this is a great profession for a mother.

Beth received a degree in Elementary Education and has been teaching fifth grade for three years at a rural school in central Louisiana. She had to take Praxis twice after missing the passing score by two points her first attempt.

She knew that she would be a successful teacher even though she had to take Praxis twice. She is in favor of LaTAAP stating "I don't think I would have survived the first year without my mentor. LaTAAP is crucial for beginning teachers".

Alice

As Alice was growing up, she always thought she wanted to become a nurse. Following high school graduation, she first began her college career in nursing. Alice made it through her course work and all the way to clinicals before deciding nursing was not what she wanted to do. She did not enjoy being in hospitals and she found out quickly that she had a weak stomach for some of the conditions surrounding nursing responsibilities.

Alice had become the leader of a study group and found that she enjoyed teaching the other members of the group. Even though she had almost completed her undergraduate degree in nursing, she changed her major to Elementary Education.

After taking her first education course, Alice knew she had made the right decision. Alice stated:

My first education course at LSUA required going in an elementary school and observing classrooms. I was hooked. I loved the whole atmosphere. Unlike the hospital, the school was bright and full of life. I could not wait to become a teacher. I was so excited about everything at this point. I just could not wait

to get in there and really make a difference.

After four years of teaching third grade, Alice still seemed just as excited about her chosen profession.

Alice passed Praxis on her first attempt. She graduated with a 3.123 college GPA.

After successfully completing LaTAAP, Alice decided to become a LaTAAP mentor. Alice stated: "LaTAAP is a wonderful program to assist rookie teachers. I strongly believe that without LaTAAP I would not be the teacher I am today".

Alice now serves as a LaTAAP mentor.

# Margaret

Margaret was the first person in her entire family to ever attend college. Margaret got married right out of high school and began a family. She had three children by the time she was twenty-four. She loved being a mom and expressed the belief that this was her calling in life.

Margaret and her husband decided to home school their children. After home schooling her children for six years she decided to attend LSUA to obtain a degree in Elementary Education. She acknowledged:

My professors at LSUA taught me a great amount. Just watching the teachers and their teaching styles was very instrumental in helping me develop my own teaching style. I have always enjoyed children and working with children. I also liked the schedule I would have with my own family.

Margaret passed Praxis on her first attempt. She had two mentors for LaTAAP due to her first mentor having to take a medical sabbatical. She received excellent leadership from both mentors. She completed all requirements for LaTAAP stating that

"I don't know if I could have done it without the guidance of my two mentors." Margaret plans to become a certified LaTAAP mentor so that she can assist novice teachers.

Ashley

Ashley stated that she was born to be a teacher. She remembers playing school and pretending she was a teacher. She made her mother, father, and siblings act as her students. She loved school and knew from an early age that she wanted to teach.

As a teenager, her love for young children began to grow. She served as a volunteer to teach elementary children the importance of moral character. She stated, "When I'm in front of a class teaching I feel as if I'm home. I absolutely love it!" Ashley and her volunteer sponsor stated that she is a natural in front of the classroom.

Ashley completed high school and could not wait to start college. She immediately enrolled in summer school. She joined many organizations and really got involved in campus life. It did not take Ashley long to realize that she was going to need a job to support her active college life. She decided to become a substitute teacher. She could only substitute teach two days a week because she attended college three days a week. She continued to work as a substitute teacher for three years until her professional college courses began to interfere.

Ashley passed Praxis with no problem. Ashley had a pleasant experience with LaTAAP. She passed all requirements for LaTAAP. She learned and thrived throughout the whole program. Ashley acknowledged:

LaTAAP made all the difference in the world to me. Honestly, I'm not sure I could have made it my first year without LaTAAP and the assistance of my mentor. LaTAAP is truly making a positive difference in the lives of new teachers and students.

Ashley is in the process of training to become a LaTAAP mentor. She has taught third grade for four years at a rural school in central Louisiana.

# **Primary Findings**

An analysis of the questionnaires, interviews, and focus groups revealed several commonalities of the participants' Praxis and LaTAAP experiences which have had an effect on their personal lives and professional practice. The issues in common included professional growth, mentoring, and testing. These three commonalities were determined from questions addressed on the questionnaire, interviews, and focus groups. Through all components of data gathering, every participant stressed the importance and impact of these three themes. Other issues arose during the process, but none were emphasized as consistently as these. Each commonality will be discussed through comparison and contrast of the participants' views with regard to the aforementioned issues.

The following table illustrates an overview of the comments of each of the participants with regard to their professional growth, mentoring, and testing.

Table 4

Participant	Professional Growth	Mentoring	Testing
Alice	Alice credited LaTAAP for preparing her to teach. She stated that LaTAAP made her sure and secure about herself as a teacher.	Alice now serves as a mentor. Alice described her mentor as a guide and director. She stated that her mentor gave her the confidence that she needed to become a successful teacher.	Alice passed Praxis on her first attempt. She stated that some of the strongest teachers she has observed had to take Praxis I more than once asserting that Praxis is not an effective measure for teacher effectiveness.

Table 4, continued

Ashley	Ashley stated that	Ashley credited her	Ashley passed
	LaTAAP	mentor for her	Praxis with no
	contributed to her	LaTAAP success.	problem but
	professional growth	She stated that she	admitted to guessing
	in classroom	learned how a	when she did not
	teaching practices	model lesson should	know the answer.
	and her ability to	be taught and	
	relate and work with	planned from	
	her colleagues.	observing her	
	Ashley explained	mentor. She stated	
	the LaTAAP	that she learned how	
	assisted her in	to work with her	
	planning and	peers through	
	organizing. She	working with her	
	asserted that	mentor. Ashley is in	
	LaTAAP is the	the process of	
	ultimate opportunity	becoming a mentor.	
	for professional		
	growth.		
Beth	Beth asserted that	Beth stated that it	Beth had to take
	she learned how to	would have been	Praxis I twice. She
	organize, plan, and	difficult to survive	asserted that Praxis
	manage time	the first year of	is unable to
	through LaTAAP.	teaching without a	determine the
	She stated that	mentor. Beth stated	effectiveness of a
	before she met her	that having a mentor	teacher.
	mentor she was	is crucial for	
	having problems in	retaining beginning	
	each of these three	teachers. She	
	areas.	credited her mentor	
		for offering ways to	
		organize, plan, and	
		manage time.	
Jeri	Jeri realized that	Jeri's mentor helped	Jeri failed Praxis I
	LaTAAP played an	plan weekly units.	twice. On her third
	important role in her	Her mentor acted as	attempt at Praxis I,
	ability to assess her	a guide during her	she passed. Jeri
	own teaching, thus	first years of	stated that she has
	promoting	teaching. Jeri stated	never scored well on
	professional growth.	that not only did she	standardized tests.
	She described	benefit from a	She explained that
	LaTAAP as the best	mentor but her	she experiences test
	professional	students did, as	phobia and anxiety.
		well. She asserted	

Table 4, continued

	learning experience	that her mentor	Jeri asserted that
	she had ever had.	positively	Praxis cannot
		influenced her	determine if one
		abilities as a	will be an effective
		teacher.	teacher.
Joe David	Joe David expressed	Joe David expressed	Joe David passed
000 2 4114	how he	how his mentor	Praxis I on his
	professionally grew	showed him ways to	second try. He
	through LaTAAP.	get organized and	stated that a written
	Through LaTAAP,	stay organized. He	exam is not capable
	he learned	attributes his	of judging teacher
	management skills,	success in teaching	effectiveness.
	organizing skills,	to his mentor. He	
	and how to plan a	plans to become a	
	lesson.	mentor in the near	
		future.	
Kate	Kate asserted that	Kate stated that her	Kate passed Praxis
	LaTAAP is making	mentor was open	on her first try. Kate
	a positive impact on	and caring. She	expressed feelings
	new teachers and	admitted to still	of apprehension
	their students. She	consulting her	going into the exam.
	stated that the	mentor when	
	techniques and	needed. Kate plans	
	procedures that she	to become a mentor.	
	learned from		
	LaTAAP and her		
	mentor are		
	positively impacting		
	her students.		
Lacie	Lacie stated that	Lacie asserted that	Lacie passed Praxis
	through LaTAAP	mentoring helped	on her first attempt.
	she learned how to	her gain new	She stated that she
	use discipline in a	insights into her	has always faired
	classroom. At the	professional	well on standardized
	start of her first	practice. She stated	tests. Lacie
	year, she struggled	that her mentoring	expressed the
	with behavior	experiences	significance of
	problems. LaTAAP	impacted her	standardized testing
	and her mentor	understanding of her	for some
	offered discipline	role as a teacher.	professions for
	techniques and	She stated that her	determining teacher
	procedures that	mentor assisted her	effectiveness.
	helped her	with time	
	overcome this	management,	

Table 4, continued

	deficient.	discipline, and	
		planning. Lacie	
		plans to become a	
		mentor in the future.	
Margaret	Margaret credited	Margaret had two	Margaret passed
	LaTAAP for getting	mentors. She	Praxis on her first
	her through the first	described the	try. She expressed
	years of teaching.	experience of	concerns of
	She stated that	having two mentors	guessing on Praxis.
	without LaTAAP it	as an advantage	She stated that
	would have been	stating that she was	Praxis is not the best
	difficult to manage.	able to experience	measure for teacher
	_	more styles of	knowledge.
		teaching than the	_
		mentee that only	
		had one mentor. She	
		is training to	
		become a mentor.	
Melanie	Melanie stated that	Melanie credits her	Melanie passed
	her LaTAAP	LaTAAP success to	Praxis on her first
	experience has	her mentor. She	attempt. She stated
	prepared her more	stated that without	that she typically
	so than any other	her mentor she may	scored well on
	professional	not have lasted the	standardized tests.
	experience thus far.	entire first year.	Although Melanie
	She asserted that the	Melanie said that	had no problem
	being observed by	her mentor assisted	passing Praxis, she
	an experienced	her with daily and	expressed concerns
	teacher improved	weekly lesson plans	about the format of
	her teaching skills.	and with the much	the exam which
		needed classroom	allows guessing
		discipline.	making it difficult to
			determine the actual
			knowledge of the
			teacher.
Nancy	Nancy stated that	Nancy first served	Nancy passed Praxis
	LaTAAP attributed	as a mentee and	her first time but
	to her professional	now serves as a	asserts Praxis
	growth by opening	mentor. Nancy	
	doors for sharing	expressed how she	
	with her peers.	cannot imagine	
		going through her	
		first year without a	
		mentor. She referred	

Table 4, continued

	to her mentor as her	cannot determine	l
	rock. Nancy went to	teacher	l
	her mentor for	effectiveness.	l
	questions, answers,		l
	and guidance.		l

# Professional Growth

Professional growth is essential for every individual. Professional growth includes formal and informal means of acquiring new skills but also with development insights into ones own classroom practice, and exploring new or advanced understandings of content and resources. Professional growth is acknowledged as a continuous process with varying degrees of intensity throughout ones career.

Professional growth with regard to their teaching practice was an important issue for all ten of the participants. These participants, to varying degrees, felt that their teaching practice had been positively influenced by LaTAAP, thus improving their instructional strategies and positively impacting their students' learning.

Of all the participants, Ashley had the strongest feelings about professional growth in her teaching practice as a result of LaTAAP. Ashley affirmed, "LaTAAP helped me to be better in my planning and organizing".

Not only did Ashley's LaTAAP experience provide growth in her classroom teaching practices, but it also provided growth in her ability to relate and work with her colleagues. She stated:

After completing LaTAAP, I'm now able to work with my peer teachers that have experience. We're able to watch each other and grow with each other. In the past, you did your own thing and nobody else bothered you. You were not involved in other classrooms and what was going on.

Ashley asserted that LaTAAP allowed her the opportunity to realize that there was much to be learned from and shared with other colleagues. Where in the past, she had stayed inside her "own little world", she now had confidence to seek her peer teachers' advice and was more willing to share her own teaching experiences with others. She acknowledged, "We work together and plan together and give each other ideas and feel comfortable doing that, where in the past we didn't do that kind of thing. Nobody was comfortable observing another teacher". Ashley believed that LaTAAP attributed to the aforementioned change in her school, not only in herself as a mentor, but in her nonmentoring colleagues as well. She summed it up in this way: "I think LaTAAP is the ultimate opportunity for professional growth".

Melanie also asserted that LaTAAP positively influenced her own abilities as a teacher. She realized that having an experienced teacher observe her teaching would improve her skills. She stated that "when you're getting ideas and suggestions, you feel obligated to try and implement them in your teaching so that it may help you improve". Melanie asserted that her LaTAAP experience thus far has prepared her more so than any other professional experience, including student teaching.

Nancy also stated that LaTAAP positively attributed to her professional growth as a teacher. She credited LaTAAP for helping her be open to the "tried and true" ideas that mentors had to offer. At the same time, she realized the importance of sharing her own new ideas.

Jeri realized that LaTAAP had played an important role in her ability to assess her own teaching, thus promoting professional growth. She described her LaTAAP experience in this way:

Going through LaTAAP was the best professional learning experience I've ever had. The first year of assistance is amazing. New teachers need the assistance for a year before going into the assessment year. LaTAAP got me where I needed to be professionally.

Joe David expressed that he had grown tremendously through LaTAAP. He acknowledged:

Personally I could not have made it without LaTAAP. I thought I was prepared to teach coming out of college but I soon found out that there was so much more for me to learn. LaTAAP was an awesome and necessary experience.

Lacie relayed over and over again how she learned so much from LaTAAP stating:

LaTAAP gave me the training that I needed. I probably would have resigned after my first year teaching had it not been for the positive influence of LaTAAP. LaTAAP positively influenced my abilities as a teacher.

Kate stated that LaTAAP is making a positive impact on new teachers and on students. Although she has completed LaTAAP, she still consults her mentor when needed. Kate plans to become a LaTAAP mentor so that she can give to novice teachers as her mentor so graciously gave to her.

Beth raved over her LaTAAP experience. She expressed how LaTAAP is crucial for the survival of beginning teachers. Beth contributes her success in teaching largely to LaTAAP stating that "LaTAAP made me the teacher I am today". She stated that she would not have completed her first year without the assistance she received from LaTAAP.

Alice had such a pleasant experience with LaTAAP that she now serves as a LaTAAP mentor. She described her LaTAAP experience this way,

LaTAAP was a beacon in the night. I was insecure and very unsure of myself as a teacher. After completing LaTAAP, I felt sure and secure. I felt ready to teach.

Margaret also had a wonderful experience with LaTAAP. Although she had two mentors, she felt she had excellent leadership from both mentors. Margaret acknowledged "LaTAAP was my saving grace". Margaret is training to become a LaTAAP mentor.

These comments clearly revealed that LaTAAP did have a positive effect on the professional teaching practices of teachers. All ten of the participants expressed some aspect of how they had experienced professional growth through LaTAAP. Each participant agreed that their instructional strategies, enhanced through LaTAAP, had positively impacted their students' learning.

# Mentoring

Mentoring is a process in which the mentor serves as a role model, trusted counselor, and teacher who provides opportunities for development, growth, and support to new teachers. Mentoring is a form of teaching that includes walking alongside the person you are teaching and inviting him or her to learn from your example.

The issue of mentoring generated strong comments from all the participants. The participants' all agreed that the mentoring aspect contributed strongly to a positive teaching experience. All participants were paired with a mentor from the same area of teaching.

Ashley learned how a model lesson should be taught and planned from observing her mentor. She stated:

When my mentor came in to observe me I had to model an ideal lesson. By doing that, my teaching got better. I made sure that every time I taught, everything was there for her to see.

Through mentoring, Ashley learned how to work with her peer teachers. She shared that prior to her mentoring experience she had trouble sharing with her peers.

Nancy stated that mentors should be teachers who were experienced and experts in their subject area. Her mentor was ideal. She recollected her feelings in this way:

Working with an experienced teacher (mentor), I've learned many tricks of the trade. Their own "tried and true" teaching methods gave me many ideas to at least try. They are helping you with the old standard ideas and I am helping them with the new. That works for everyone.

Nancy now serves as a student teacher mentor and as a LaTAAP mentor.

Jeri stated that not only did she benefit from having a mentor but her students ultimately benefited from this experience. She asserted that her mentor positively influenced her own abilities as a teacher.

Having a mentor helped me think through what I'm doing correctly and what I'm doing wrong. If my mentor comes in and sees me doing something incorrectly, she is able to correct the problem on the spot so that it may not negatively affect my students.

Joe David had such a pleasant experience with his mentor that he attributes his success in teaching, thus far, to his mentor. He acknowledged:

I can honestly say that I would not have survived my first year without my mentor. I learned skills from my mentor by just simply observing her in the classroom.

Lacie also had a wonderful experience with mentoring stating:

I don't think I could have made it my first year without my mentor. My management and discipline left much to be desired. I really benefited from my mentor in these two areas. Being able to observe a seasoned teacher was also very helpful.

Although Kate has successfully completed LaTAAP, she still consults her mentor when needed. She had such a positive learning experience with her mentor that she plans

on becoming a LaTAAP mentor so that she can give to new teachers as her mentor so graciously gave to her.

Beth expressed that a mentor is crucial for retaining beginning teachers. She stated that she would not have continued teaching after her first year if she would not have had the assistance of her mentor. Beth is planning on becoming a LaTAAP mentor in the near future.

Alice also had a wonderful mentor to guide and direct her. She described her mentoring experience this way,

I needed a mentor to guide and direct me through those first two scary years. I didn't have much faith in myself as a teacher. My mentor took me under her wing and showed me how to have confidence and to be secure in the classroom.

Margaret had a pleasant experience with her mentor. Although she had two mentors, she reported an excellent leadership from both mentors. She stated that she was "lucky" to have had the opportunity to work with two mentors. She was able to see more styles of teaching than the mentee that only has one mentor. Margaret is training to become a LaTAAP mentor.

The participants' all agreed that the mentoring aspect contributed strongly to a positive teaching experience. Data analysis revealed that the participant's views of the practice of mentoring are positive for the professional teaching practices of teachers and student's learning. The process of mentoring guides a less experienced individual in the development and re-examination of their own ideas, learning and personal and professional development. Participants indicated that the mentor, mentee, and the students all benefit from the mentoring process.

**Testing** 

Although the participants were positive about their LaTAAP experience, they were negative about Praxis. All ten participants agreed that Praxis is not an effective assessment of a teacher's ability to teach. None of the participants in this study believed that Praxis in any way contributed to their professional development. Several of the participants confessed to guessing the answer, experiencing test anxiety, and having to take the examination again after failing it their first or second attempt.

Nancy had high passing scores on Praxis. She passed all three sections of Praxis the first time she took the exam. Although Nancy did extremely well on Praxis, she does not believe that Praxis can determine if a teacher will be a successful teacher. She stated that Praxis should not be a determinate for teacher success because it does not access a teacher's ability to teach.

Although Ashley passed Praxis with no problem she does not perceive Praxis to be a true indicator of teacher effectiveness. Ashley asserted that an individual could pass Praxis by guessing their way through the test.

Melanie passed Praxis with high scores on her first try. She said that she has always done well on standardized tests. Although her Praxis scores were extremely well she agreed that Praxis did not and could not determine a teacher's ability to be effective in the classroom.

Lacie has always done well on standardized tests. She passed Praxis on her first attempt. She thought standardized tests were significant in some areas but did not believe it could determine the effectiveness of a teacher.

Passing Praxis was not a problem for Kate. She passed the exam on her first attempt. Kate admitted that she did guess at many questions on Praxis. She passed Praxis on her first attempt but admits she was surprised due to her ACT score and GPA.

Alice perceived Praxis as a good tool to test teacher knowledge but agreed that it could not determine if a teacher would be a success. She passed Praxis on her first attempt. Alice stated that Praxis testing locations should be convenient for the participants to reduce time and financial hardships related to expenses for such items as meals and travel expenses. Alice does not believe that Praxis can determine teacher effectiveness.

Margaret's had mixed perceptions about Praxis. She asserted that teachers should know the material on Praxis in order to be effective; however she realized that Praxis is constructed to allow guessing. Therefore, she asserted that Praxis is not the best measure for teacher knowledge.

Beth had to take Praxis I twice after failing on her first attempt. She stated that Praxis is a "money making gimmick". She asserted that ETS should take into account that the individuals taking Praxis are college students and that these individuals may have a difficult time paying for the exam. Therefore, the cost of the exam should be lowered. Beth does not understand how a standardized test can or will determine teacher effectiveness.

Joe David had to take Praxis I twice. He failed it the first time he took it but passed with a respectable score on his second try. He stated that standardized tests scores can be affected by the way you feel and by what is going on in your life at the time you

take the exam. Therefore, he does not think Praxis can or should determine teacher effectiveness.

After failing Praxis I on her first two attempts, Jeri attributed her failing scores to test anxiety. She stated that she has never done well on standardized tests. She stated that she has a phobia when it comes to these types of exams. Jeri expressed that students could possibly benefit from Praxis workshops that would not only help prepare students for the exam but to help ease test anxiety.

The three participants who had problems passing Praxis I eventually passed. Beth and Joe David passed on their second attempt. Beth stated that she had always been afraid of standardized tests. Joe David admitted to experiencing some depression due to personal issues, which he chose not to disclose, the day of the exam that may have contributed to his failure. Neither of them used any type of remediation. After failing Praxis I twice, Jeri did seek remediation. Jeri stated that she suffered from test anxiety and test phobia. She enrolled in a seminar offered by the university to help reduce test anxiety. Jeri stated that through this seminar, she was able to better handle the stress of test taking by using simple techniques she learned. Techniques that Jeri incorporated were breathing, mind control, and stretching. Jeri was successful on her third attempt at Praxis I. She credits the seminar for reducing her stress and anxiety level which she believes improved her scores to a passing level. In the interviews and focus groups, each participant discussed their personal teaching experience and their experience with LaTAAP. Participants stated that just because one may have failed Praxis I, their effectiveness as a teacher could not be judged by that factor alone. Alice expressed how some of the strongest teachers she has observed had to take Praxis more than once.

Participants who failed Praxis I stated that they were able to perform in the classroom just as well as their counterparts who passed Praxis I on their first attempt. None of the participants saw any evidence that initial failure or success on Praxis I had an impact on success with LaTAAP.

Participant perceptions' revealed that Praxis is not an effective assessment of a teacher's ability to teach. The issue of testing made some teachers afraid, angry, and anxious. All ten participants expressed negative views about the examination and none identified ways that Praxis contributed to their professional growth. The only factor that could be identified from participant reactions as an influence on their Praxis performance was personal issues related to their previous success on other standardized assessments.

One additional way of examining the information gathered from the participants is to consider issues within each of the three primary factors and their resolutions. The following table illustrates specific examples of issues and resolutions that occurred with each of the three commonalities.

Table 5

Commonalities	Issues	Resolutions
Professional Growth	Ashley had trouble working and collaborating with experienced peers.	1. LaTAAP allowed Ashley the opportunity to realize that there was much to be
	with experienced peers.	learned from and shared with other colleagues.

Table 5, continued

		During LaTAAP, mentees and mentors are required to collaborate therefore eliminating the barrier of Ashley's reluctance to
	2. Several of the participants had difficulty with planning and organizing.	approach experienced colleagues.  2. LaTAAP provided tried and true ideas and suggestions that assisted new teachers in planning and organizing. For example, Kate's mentor made a weekly schedule that included time to plan lessons and demonstrated through observations how important a structured
		routine was to her professional development.
Mentoring	1. Lacie experienced some	1. The mentor observed
	difficulty with management	Lacie and offered ideas and
	and discipline.	suggestions to assist her in
		these two areas. One
		specific suggestion offered
		to Lacie by her mentor and
		one that Lacie observed was
		consistency in classroom
		management. Lacie's
		mentor stressed that the
		single most important factor in her successful classroom
		management was
		consistency in dealing with
		all classroom issues,
		especially discipline.
	2. Alice was afraid and	2. The mentor was there to
	lacked confidence in her	guide and direct Alice
	abilities as a teacher.	through her first year of
		uncertainty. Through direct
		mentoring, Alice's mentor
		provided suggestions and
		constructive criticism
		toward the areas Alice

Table 5, continued

		needed to improve. The
		mentor also provided praise
		and positive reinforcement
		to reassure Alice of the
		things she did well.
Testing		Although participant
		perceptions' revealed that
		Praxis is not an effective
		assessment of a teacher's
		ability to teach, the state of
		Louisiana requires teachers
		to take the exam.
	1. Jeri expressed that she	1. Many people experience
	experiences test anxiety	test anxiety however,
	which may be the reason	professionals must find
	she failed Praxis.	techniques to overcome
		such phobias so that their
		knowledge may be tested.
	2. Joe David was having	2. Personal problems may
	some personal issues the	occur the day of the exam
	day of his exam which may	which could affect an
	have contributed to his	individual's score. One
	failure on Praxis.	should consider
		rescheduling Praxis until
		the situation is resolved.

In addition to the search for factors impacting performance, the participants were asked in the final focus group to offer suggestions regarding potential further research in this area. Only two suggestions were provided. First, a participant suggested an expansion of the study to include larger numbers of teachers and representatives from institutions throughout Louisiana. Second, it was recommended that a more comprehensive study to measure longitudinal growth over time throughout the LaTAAP process would be beneficial.

## The Research Question

The central research question was:

What factors or issues are identified by novice teachers as influences on their performance in standardized assessments and classroom teaching effectiveness?

Data analysis revealed that LaTAAP and the practice of mentoring do have a positive effect on the professional teaching practices of teachers. All participants stated that the mentoring portion of LaTAAP was the most beneficial for their professional growth. Participants reported that LaTAAP allows novice teachers to grow, learn, ask questions, and get answers from experienced teachers. They also indicated that LaTAAP provided them with guidance in lesson planning, organizing, discipline, and classroom management then allows them to put theory into practice. Testing generated a negative response from the participants. Praxis was found by all to be a frustrating and intense experience regardless of their level of performance. All participants agreed that Praxis does not serve as a valid determinate for teacher effectiveness and indicated that success was more related to their personal life experiences of testing than anything else. The importance that the issues of professional growth, mentoring, and testing play in the initial attitudinal development of the teachers toward their teaching proved revealing across all dimensions of their teaching experiences.

Several personal factors that were identified by novice teachers that influence performance on standardized assessment included test anxiety, test phobias, problems in their personal lives, past perceptions of how they will perform on a standardized test, nerves, and guessing at answers. These factors were the only factors given credit by the participants in this study for influence performance on Praxis and LaTAAP.

Interactions between mentoring and professional growth were recognized as having a direct influence on teacher performance. For example, participation in the mentoring process was recognized as a stimulus for greater communications among fellow teachers. Therefore, discussions would ensue that often resulted in advice or information related to discipline, time management, planning, organizing, classroom management, confidence, knowledge of subject matter, and peer collaboration. These discussions not only provided personal ideas to enhance teacher performance, but even lead to the pursuit of readings or staff development activities in the various aspects of teaching. From a reverse perspective, the novice teachers felt encouraged to discuss their ideas gained from readings or professional development with their mentors and colleagues. Consequently, mentors and colleagues developed a different perspective of the novices as sources of information as well as sources of questions. This resulted in more confident and knowledgeable novice teachers.

# **Summary of Findings**

The data analysis revealed three commonalities of the participants' mentoring experiences which have had an effect on their professional practice. These included issues concerning professional growth, mentoring, and testing.

Professional growth with regard to their practice was an important issue for all of the participants. As these participants were mentored, self-reflection of their own teaching practices occurred, thus encouraging growth in their teaching skills and strategies. Increased camaraderie among colleagues was also considered to be a direct result of LaTAAP. These participants stated that with the onset of LaTAAP, both mentor

teachers and non-mentor teachers began to feel more at ease with sharing of their ideas and skills with each other.

Mentoring through LaTAAP was a positive experience for all participants. All participants asserted that the mentoring portion of LaTAAP was the most beneficial. All participants expressed how they needed a mentor to get them past their rookie phase. The mentors were there to assist with management, planning, organization, discipline and many other areas where novice teachers tend to struggle.

The issue of testing generated a negative response from the participants. All of the participants used a variation of the word "stressful" to describe their feelings concerning Praxis. Praxis was found by all to be frustrating and intense. Personal issues such as test anxiety, test phobia, and guessing were found to be important factors in the development of the participants' attitudes toward Praxis, and therefore, also impacted their performance.

In the following chapter, focus will be made on implications emerging from this study in terms of further research. An analysis of findings and a discussion of these findings in terms of related research will also be presented.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## Discussion

#### Introduction

This chapter offers an analysis of findings and a discussion of these findings in terms of related research. This chapter also presents implications on teacher effectiveness, implications for future research, and concluding observations.

This study explored the experiences of teachers that completed LaTAAP and the effects these experiences had on their professional practice and personal lives. The personal reflections of ten teachers were elicited through questionnaires, interviews, and focus groups, analysis of which revealed several commonalities. The issues in common included professional growth, mentoring, and testing. Each commonality was discussed through comparison and contrast of the participants' views with regard to the aforementioned issues.

The research question for this study was developed based on a foundation study, gaps in the research, and personal experiences as a teacher and an external evaluator.

The central research question was: What factors or issues are identified by novice teachers as influences on their performance in standardized assessments and classroom teaching effectiveness? This question guided the inquiry and analysis of the data.

## Analysis of Findings

Participants invited to take part in this study included fourteen experienced public school teachers who had participated in the Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program. Of the fourteen teachers invited, ten responded to the initial letter agreeing to participate in this study. These teachers had met the requirements set forth by

the Louisiana State Department of Education with regard to the aforementioned program and were chosen from former graduates of Louisiana State University at Alexandria.

Questionnaires, individual interviews and focus group interviews were utilized to elicit the participants' personal reflections with regard to their teaching experiences.

These personal reflections were analyzed through coding of the data transcripts in search of participant commonalities. As these commonalities were identified, certain issues emerged as most significant in the teachers' personal teaching experiences. The issues in common included professional growth, mentoring, and testing. Using the identified issues, comparisons and contrasts were then made to determine the degree to which the participants' mentoring practice had affected their personal lives and professional practice.

Professional growth with regard to their teaching practice was an important issue for all of the participants. These participants, to varying degrees, expressed how their teaching practice had been positively influenced by LaTAAP. As the mentoring portion of LaTAAP took place, self reflection encouraged growth in their teaching skills and strategies. Increased camaraderie among colleagues was also considered to be a direct result of LaTAAP. These participants stated that with the onset of LaTAAP, both mentors and those being mentored began to feel more at ease with sharing of their ideas and skills with each other.

Mentoring through LaTAAP was a positive experience for all participants. All participants agreed that the mentoring portion of LaTAAP was the most beneficial. The participants asserted that their mentor was needed to help get them through their first

year. The mentors assisted novice teachers with management, planning, organization, discipline and many other areas where novice teachers tend to struggle.

Testing generated a negative response from the participants. Praxis was deemed a stressor and was found by all to be frustrating and intense. Some participants reported experiencing test anxiety, test phobia, and other similar issues in Praxis as in prior standardized testing experiences. Although most participants agreed teachers should be knowledgeable about Praxis material, none of the participants believed that Praxis impacted their teacher effectiveness.

Analysis of the results revealed that LaTAAP does have a positive affect on the professional teaching practices of novice teachers. The degree to which this affect occurred varied from teacher to teacher. The issues of professional growth, mentoring, and testing were found to play an important role in the attitudinal development of the novice teachers toward their experience with the mentoring process.

# Findings in Context

This study of the experience of novice teachers and their performance in standardized assessments and classroom teaching effectiveness was undertaken in view of the deficit in the literature. As Allen et al. (2002) concluded in their study of mentors' perspectives of their mentoring experiences, additional research focusing on the mentor seemed critical to increasing knowledge of mentoring relationships. A research study by Jones (2001) also acknowledged the need for mentors to be given "their own voice" (p.75) in reporting their individual perspective of their mentoring practice.

Bozionelos (2003) concluded that mentoring had positive consequences for the professional practice of mentors. Bozionelos' (2003) study revealed that mentors "gain

satisfaction, a sense of accomplishment, and additional meaning in their work" as a result of their mentoring. In addition, a study by Zeek, Foote, and Walker (2001) discovered that as mentors are allowed to share about their experiences, their sense of isolation is reduced and they are encouraged to see themselves as professional practitioners of learning.

In this current study, professional growth was also determined to be an important issue. However, another aspect of professional growth was revealed. Not only did mentoring affect the professional growth of the mentors, but it also affected the professional growth of their colleagues as well. Palmer's (1993) discourse concerning the improvement of teaching through conversation between teachers within their communities asserted that faculty lack "the continuing conversation with colleagues that could help us grow more fully into the demands of the teacher's craft" (p.8). With the onset of mentoring within the participants' schools, Palmer's observation was addressed. The participants stated that both mentor teachers and non-mentor teachers alike began to feel more at ease exchanging their ideas and skills with one another, thus encouraging professional growth for all.

# Implications on Teacher Effectiveness

This study sought to discover and explore what factors or issues are identified by novice teachers as influences on their performance in standardized assessments and classroom teaching effectiveness. As a result, several implications for the field of teacher effectiveness have been discovered. These include personal implications for mentors and novice teachers and implications for novice teachers' perceptions of the assessment

experiences. These implications have been revealed by the participants themselves as they told their mentoring stories in their own words.

## Personal Implications for Novices and Mentors

As this study has revealed, the role of a new teacher can be rewarding yet challenging. This role is a complex one, sometimes confusing, sometimes complicated, and at all times challenging to the teachers who are participants in it. As shown by the related stories of the participants in this study, mentoring through LaTAAP allows experienced teachers to share their time and talents to help novice teachers become successful educators. Prospective teachers need to understand the expectations of their role and need to be given as much insight as possible before accepting it. Failure to understand teaching expectations can set the stage for a negative beginning to their teaching practice. Prospective teachers need to question administrators and other teachers to receive the best information they can in order to make an informed decision with regard to accepting or rejecting their prospective teaching role.

Professional growth in teaching practices was found to be a positive aspect of LaTAAP. All ten participants in this study recognized that self-reflection of their teaching practices had occurred during their mentoring tenure, thus strengthening their teaching skills and strategies. Teachers should be aware that self-reflection of their teaching practices as a result of their mentoring has been shown to encourage professional growth. According to the participants of this study, managing their classrooms, organization skills, and maintaining satisfying personal lives inside and outside the classroom were all issues that challenged them throughout their mentoring

tenure. School administrators, mentees' own personal families, and the families of their students have been shown to play a role in dealing with the aforementioned issues.

## Novice Teachers' Perceptions of Assessments

Although Praxis was not found to play a large part in the foundation of teachers' attitudes concerning their practice, LaTAAP was a positive influencing factor. All the participants in this study found Praxis to be stressful and frustrating. On the other hand, all participants agreed that LaTAAP was beneficial and needed.

From the participants' comments and the data analysis, the following implications are suggested concerning Praxis.

- Praxis workshops should be given to not only help prepare for the exam but to
  help ease test anxiety. Given the significance identified by participants
  regarding previous testing experiences, these workshops should consider
  opportunities for discussions and reflections among the participants.
- Praxis testing locations should be convenient for the participants to reduce time and financial hardships related to expenses for such items as meals and travel expenses.
- 3. The cost of Praxis should be lowered. ETS should take into consideration that the test takers are college students and will have a difficult time paying for the exam.

## Implications for Future Research

During the course of this research and data analysis, implications for future research emerged. The following recommendations, if explored, could consequently add

to the existing literature on the experiences of Praxis and LaTAAP as it is perceived by those who practice it – the novice teachers.

A research need exists for a comparison study of the different training programs for new teachers to enhance the development of efficient and appealing models for both outcomes and recruitment purposes. In this current study LaTAAP was found to play a large part in the foundation of the participants' attitudes concerning their teaching practice. All the participants found LaTAAP training to be a positive influence on their professional careers. From the participants' comments and the data analysis, a comparative study concerning the effectiveness of the different training programs for new teachers was suggested. Such a study would compare and contrast training programs with regard to their acceptance by trainees, thus encouraging the development of more efficient and appealing training programs. Such developments, in turn, could result in more positive attitudes towards training and more effective participation.

A study involving the use of other teaching professionals as mentors rather than classroom teachers may serve as a spring board for mentor program developers. Data analysis of this current study revealed that the participants were concerned with the amount of time spent away from their classrooms as a result of their mentoring practice. The participants asserted that one alternative to the use of classroom teacher mentors was the utilization of other teaching professionals, such as retired teachers or curriculum coordinators. These teaching professionals would not experience the time conflicts that classroom teachers experienced during their practice as mentors. A comparative study investigating mentoring effectiveness of classroom teachers with the mentoring

effectiveness of other teaching professionals would provide insight for mentor program developers as they develop criteria for the selection of mentors.

A study concerning the growth of students' learning as a result of LaTAAP may help to validate and encourage growth of new and existing programs. A dual study involving both qualitative and quantitative data would serve to ascertain the depth of students' learning as a result of their teachers' mentoring practice. Utilization of student surveys, interviews, and test scores would provide findings of student depth of learning. Positive findings would not only encourage development of new mentor programs, but would also validate existing mentor programs as well.

A study of school administrators' perceptions of LaTAAP could illuminate ways to address hurdles new teachers experience in the classroom. The historical and contemporary values of mentoring are not in dispute. However, the realities of current daily school life seriously challenge viable mentoring. There is scant research on school administrators' perceptions of mentoring. Addressing this gap and how to effectively infuse a positive climate of mentoring in school settings could provide a valuable contribution.

A larger quantitative study based on the primary findings of this current study may serve to validate participants' LaTAAP experiences. Development of an instrument with regard to professional growth, mentoring, and testing would serve as a method of data gathering which could then be utilized on a statewide basis. Analysis of such data could substantiate findings of this current study and be utilized by LaTAAP developers to change and modify the existing program.

A research need exists for a comparison study of qualifying examinations to enhance the development of teacher effectiveness. In this current study, Praxis was not believed to play a large part in the foundation of the participants' performance in the classroom. All the participants found Praxis to be stressful and frustrating. From the participants' comments and the data analysis, a comparative study concerning the effectiveness of the different licensure examinations for teachers was suggested. Such a study would compare and contrast tests with regard to their acceptance by teachers, thus encouraging the development of more efficient and effective tests. Such developments could result in more positive attitudes towards testing.

#### Personal Reflections

This research ascertained the experiences of new teachers in their own words as it pertained to their professional practice. All participants agreed that Praxis was not an effective tool to determine teacher effectiveness. As these stories were heard and reflected upon, the practice of LaTAAP began to be seen more clearly as the challenging, yet rewarding practice of experienced teachers struggling to help aspiring new teachers become the brightest and best. LaTAAP is not for the faint of heart, but rather for the courageous soul who feels a deep yearning to learn from experienced teachers.

#### References

- Allen, T.D. (2002). Relationship effectiveness for mentors: Factors associated with learning and quality. *Journal of Management 51*, 70-89.
- Bauer, S. C. & LeBlanc, G. (2002). Teacher Perceptions of the Mentoring Component of the Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program. Paper presented at The Annual Meeting of the Mid-South Educational Research Association (Chattanooga, TN, November 2002).
- Bozeman, L.A. & Serpell, Z. (1999). Beginning teacher induction: A report on beginning teacher effectiveness and retention (National Partnership for Excellence and Accountability). Retrieved May 21, 2006, from <a href="http://www.erlcsp.org/pages/digests/BeginningTeachInduction.htm">http://www.erlcsp.org/pages/digests/BeginningTeachInduction.htm</a>
- Bozionelos, N. (2003). Instrumental and expressive traits: Their relationship and their association with biological sex. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 31, 423.
- Breaux, A.L. & Wong, H. K. (2003). New teacher induction: How to train, support, and retain new teachers. Mountain View: Harry K. Wong Publications, Inc.
- Burns, K. (1992). Collaborative teaching. In M. Wilkin (Ed.), *Mentoring in schools*, 133-143. London: Kogan Page.
- Clinard, L.M. & Ariav, T. (1998). What mentoring does for mentors: A cross-cultural perspective. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 21, 91-104.
- Cohen, N.H. & Galbraith, M.W. (1995). *Mentoring: New strategies and challenges*.

  San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Creswell, J. (1998). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five

- traditions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2005). Prepping our teachers for teaching as a profession. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87, 237-40.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2004). Standards, accountability, and school reform. *Teachers College Record*, 106.
- Darling-Hammond, S. & Ifill-Lynch, O. (2006) If they'd only do their work! *Educational Leadership*, 86, 122-124.
- Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and education. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Educational Testing Services, (2005-2006). Retrieved May 21, 2006, from <a href="http://www.ets.org/praxis/prxfaq.html">http://www.ets.org/praxis/prxfaq.html</a>
- Evertson, C.M. & Smithey, M.W. (2000). Mentoring effects on protégés' classroom practice: An experimental field study. *Journal of Educational Research* 93, 1-10. Retrieved June 24, 2006 from http://louis2.ocs.lsu.edu:2072/louis
- Feiman-Nemser, S. (1996). Teacher mentoring: A critical review. *Eric Digest*ED 397060. Retrieved May 27, 2006 from <a href="http://ericir.syr.edu/plweb-cgi/obtain.pl">http://ericir.syr.edu/plweb-cgi/obtain.pl</a>
- Giorgi, A. 1971, Phenomenology and Experimental Psychology: I, in Phenomenological Psychology: Volume 1, eds A. Giorgi, W.F. Fischer & R. Von Eckartsberg, Pittsburgh, PA,: Duquesne University Press & Humanities Press, pp. 6-16.
- Glesne, C. (1999). *Becoming qualitative researchers An introduction* (Second Edition). New York: Longman.
- Gronn, P. (1983). Rethinking educational administration: T.B. Greenfield and his critics.

  Deakin University, Victoria: Deakin University Press.
- Halford, J.M. (1998). Strengthening the teaching profession. Educational Leadership,

- 55, 1-4. Retrieved September 30, 2006 from http://www.ascd.org/readingroom/edlead/9802/halford.html
- Hargreaves, A. (2000). Mentoring in the new millennium. *Theory into Practice*, 39, 50-56.
- Heidegger, Martin (1954). "Building Dwelling Thinking", tr. Hofstadter, Albert. In Krell, David Farrell (ed.) (1993). *Basic Writings: Marin Heidegger*. London: Routledge, pp. 347-363.
- Heidegger, M. (1962). Being and time. New York: Harper and Row.
- Higgins, M.C. & Kram, K.E. (2001). Reconceptualizing mentoring at work: A Developmental network perspective. *Academy of Management Review*, 26, 264-288.
- Hilton, J.J. (2002). Polanyi's philosophy: A new look at a theoretical framework.

  Nurse Educator, 27, 249-250.
- Hirsch, Eric, Koppich, J. E., and Knapp, M. S., What States Are Doing to Improve the Quality of Teaching, a Brief Review of Current Patterns and Trends, Center for The Study of Teaching and Policy (Seattle, Washington: University of Washington, December 1998). National Commission on Teaching and America's Future, What Matters Most: Teaching for America's Future (New York, NY: NCTAF, 1996).
- Husserl, E. (1931). *Ideas: General introduction to pure phenomenology* (Translated by W.R.B. Givson). London: George Allen & Unwin, Ltd.
- Husserl, E. 1971, Phenomenology Edumund Husserl's article for the encyclopedia Britannica 1927: New complete translation by R.E. Palmer, The British Society For Phenomenology, vol. 2, no. 2, pp.77-90.

- Imel, S. (2000). CTE Contibutions to Learning and Earning In Brief: Fast Facts

  For Policy and Practice No. 11.
- Indiana State University. Retrieved July 2, 2006, from <a href="http://soe.indstate.edu/ESS/PraxisIReq.htm">http://soe.indstate.edu/ESS/PraxisIReq.htm</a>
- Ingersoll, R.M. (2002). High turnover plagues schools [Electronic version]. Retrived

  May 13, 2004, from http://www.usatodaycom/new/opinion/2002-08-04-oplede\_x.
- Jefferson Parish Public Schools. Retrieved October 10, 2006, from <a href="http://lataap.jppss.k12.la.us/">http://lataap.jppss.k12.la.us/</a>
- Jipson, J. & Palay, N. (2000). Because no one gets there alone: Collaboration as comentoring. *Theory into Practice*, 39, 36-42.
- Johnson, H. (2001). Administrators and mentors: Keys in the success of beginning teachers. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 28, 1-8.
- Jones, M. (2001). Mentors' perceptions of their roles in school-based teacher training in England and Germany. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 27, 75-94.
- Jones, M.S. & Pauley, F. (2003). Mentoring beginning public school teachers. *Adult Learning*, 14, 23.
- Kerka, S. (1998). New perspectives on mentoring. *Eric Digests*. Retrieved

  June 17, 2006 from <a href="http://www.ed.gov/databases/ERIC\_Digests/ed418249.html">http://www.ed.gov/databases/ERIC\_Digests/ed418249.html</a>
- Kerry, D. & Armour, K. (2000). Sport Sciences and the Promise of Phenomenology: Philosophy, Method, and Insight. *Quest*, *52*, 1-17.
- Koki, S. (1997). The Role of Teacher Mentoring in Educational Reform. *Pacific Resources for Education and Learning*, 6, 6.
- Knowles, M.S. (1980). The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to androgagy.

- River Grove, IL: Follett.
- Kramer, M. (2001). Triumph out of the wilderness: a reflection on the importance of mentoring. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 82, 411-412.
- Latham, A.S., Gitomer, D., & Ziomek, R. (1999). What the tests tell us about new teachers. *Educational Leadership*, 56, 23-26.
- Lewis, A. C. (2003). Title II and teacher testing. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84, 420-1.
- Lincoln, Y. & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- Loeb, S & Darling-Hammond, L. (2005). How teaching conditions predict teacher turnover in California schools. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 80, 44-70.
- Louisiana Department of Education, *Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment*Program (Baton Rouge, LA: Louisiana State Department of Education, 1998).
- Louisiana Department of Education (2002). *Teacher assistance and assessment program*Q & A. Retrieved July 2, 2006 from

  http://www.doe.state.la.us/DOE/OQE/MENQA98.asp
- Louisiana Department of Education (2002 2003). Strategies for effective teaching in the twenty-first century: A professional development manual.
- Louisiana Department of Education (2006). Retrieved July 2, 2006 from <a href="http://www.doe.state.la.us">http://www.doe.state.la.us</a>
- Louisiana Department of Education (2006). Retrieved June 30, 2006 from <a href="http://www.doe.state.la.us/lde/pd/623.html">http://www.doe.state.la.us/lde/pd/623.html</a>.
- Mauer, E. & Zimmerman, E. (2000). Mentoring new teachers. *Principal*, 79, 26-28.
- Merleau-Ponty, M. (1962). The Phenomenology of Perception. London: Routledge.
- Merriam, S. (1983). Mentors and protégés: A critical review of the literature.

- Adult Education Quarterly, 33, 161-173.
- Merriam, S.B. & Caffarella, R.S. (1999). *Learning in adulthood: A comprehensive guide*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. (2002). E-mentoring: Using computer mediated communication to enhance the mentoring process. *Innovative Higher Education*, 26, 211-27.
- Mullen, C. (2000). Constructing Co-Mentoring Partnerships: Walkways We Must Travel. *Theory Into Practice*, *39*, 4-8.
- Mullen, C. (2000). New directions for mentoring: Remaking the school-university culture. *Action in Teacher Education*, 22, 112-24.
- Nagel, G. & Peterson, P. (2001). Why competency tests miss the mark. *Educational Leadership*, 58, 46-48.
- National Association of State Directors of Teacher Education and Certification, *The*NASDTEC Manual on the Preparation and Certification of Educational

  Personnel, 1998-99, (Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt Publishing, Inc., 1998).
- National Commission on Teaching and America's Future (NCTAF), (1999). What matters most: teaching and America's future. Washington D.C.: U.S.

  Department of Education.
- National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality. Retrieved October 4, 2006, from <a href="http://www.tqsource.org/prep/policy/report.asp?print=true&state+/html">http://www.tqsource.org/prep/policy/report.asp?print=true&state+/html</a>
- Newcombe, E. (1988). Mentoring programs for new teachers. Pennsylvania: Research for Better Schools.
- Parker, M. (1999). Adolescent dancing and the mentoring of beginning teachers.

  Paper presented at the meeting of the American Educational Research

- Association, Boston, MA. Retrieved June, 2006 from <a href="http://nertl.mus.edu/http/rreports/html/rr9013.htm">http://nertl.mus.edu/http/rreports/html/rr9013.htm</a>
- Palmer, D.C. (1993) Learning and complex behavior, Allyn and Bacon.
- Patton, M.Q. (1989). *Qualitative evaluation methods* (10<sup>th</sup> printing). Beverly Hills, CA.: Sage.
- Pennington, J. (2006). Mentoring program to put Arkansas teachers on path to success. SEDL Letter, 13.
- Polanyi, M. & Cockburn, L. (2003). Opportunities and pitfalls of community-based research: A case study. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 9, 16.
- Poloi, L.H., Knight, S.M., Dennis, K., Frankel, R.M. (2002). Helping medical school faculty realize their dreams: An innovative, collaborative mentoring program. *Academic Medicine*, 77, 377-384.
- Portner, H. (1998). Mentoring new teachers. California: Corwin Press.
- Pullin, D. C. (2001). Key questions in implementing teacher testing and licensing. *Journal of Law & Education*, 30, 383-429.
- Rogers, C. (1942). Counseling and psychotherapy. New York: Houghton Mifflin.
- St. John The Baptist Parish Public Schools. Retrieved November 1, 2006, from <a href="https://www.stjohn.k12.la.us/outstanding\_Educators/oe\_SJBP\_New\_Mentors.htm">www.stjohn.k12.la.us/outstanding\_Educators/oe\_SJBP\_New\_Mentors.htm</a>
- Schoener, L. (1996). Faculty: The driving force in preceptorship. *Nursing Connections*, 9, 37-42.
- Scott, C. (2001). New high-stake exam: state assessors to observe new teachers teaching. Retrieved January 17, 2006 from <a href="http://www.catalyst-cleveland.org/10-01/1001story4.htm">http://www.catalyst-cleveland.org/10-01/1001story4.htm</a>

- Silva, D. (2000). The meaning of supervision for mentor teachers. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Spiegelberg, M. (1976, January 1). Career Education and the Teaching of Foreign Languages. Foreign Language Annals.
- Sweeny, B.W. (2001). *Leading the teacher induction and mentoring program.*Arlington Heights, IL: Skylight Training and Publishing, Inc.
- The Praxis Series Information and Registration Bulletin, (2005-2006). Retrieved January 20, 2006, from www.ets.org/praxis
- Trubowitz, S. (2004). The why, how, and what of mentoring. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 86, 59.
- University of California Irvine, College of Education (2006). *Mentor teacher*.

  Retrieved June 17, 2006 from <a href="http://www.gse.uci.edu/MentorTeacher.html">http://www.gse.uci.edu/MentorTeacher.html</a>
- University of Louisiana Monroe, College of Education (2006). Retrieved July 2, 2006 from <a href="https://www.ulm.edu/teach/teacher.html">www.ulm.edu/teach/teacher.html</a>
- University of Southern Maine. Retrieved November 1, 2006, from <a href="http://www.usm.maine.edu/csce/STUDENTS/Educators/praxis.htm">http://www.usm.maine.edu/csce/STUDENTS/Educators/praxis.htm</a>
- U.S. Department of Education (1998). From students of teaching to teachers of students:
  Teacher induction around the Pacific rim. Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation.
  Retrieved July 2, 2006 from <a href="http://www.ed.gov/pubs/APEC/ch6.html">http://www.ed.gov/pubs/APEC/ch6.html</a>
- U.S. Department of Education, *Teacher Quality: A Report on the Preparation and Qualifications of Public School Teachers* Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2004.

- Vandenberg, D. 1971, Being and education. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.
- Vandenberg, D. (1987, January 1). Education and the religious. *Teachers College Record*, 89, 69.
- Vankaam, A.L. (1996). *Existential foundations of psychology*. Pittsburgh: Duquesne University Press.
- Vaughn, S., Schumm, J.S., & Sinagub, J. (1996). Focus group interviews in education and psychology. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Wakefield, D. (2003). Screening teacher candidates: Problems with high-stakes testing. *Educational Forum*, 67, 380-88.
- Weiss, R.S. (1994). *Learning from strangers: The act and method of qualitative interview studies.* New York: The Free Press.
- Willis, R. (1996). Professional autonomy or state sponsorship: The dilemmas for private teachers in their campaign for registration in Victorian England. *History of Education*, 25, 323-34.
- Zeek, C., Foote, M., & Walker, C. (2001). Teacher stories and transactional inquiry: Hearing the voices of mentor teachers. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 52, 377-385.

## **Letter of Consent For Adults**

## Dear Teacher:

Sincerely,

Signature

I am a graduate student studying under the direction of Professor Charles S. Gifford, Ph.D. in the College of Curriculum and Instruction at the University of New Orleans. I am conducting a research study to address relationships by investigating the factors identified by novice teachers as influencing their performance on Praxis and LaTAAP.

I am requesting your participation, which will involve completing a questionnaire of approximately ten to fifteen minutes. Additionally, you may become one of the participants selected to be later interviewed individually and as part of a focus group. The individual interviews will take approximately twenty to thirty minutes. The focus groups will last approximately thirty minutes to an hour. The interviews will be held on the LSUA campus. All interviews will be audiotaped for accuracy and cross-referencing data. All materials and data collected in this study will be kept confidential.

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You are free to choose not to participate or withdraw from the study at any time without penalty to your employment. Your identity will be kept confidential as the study will examine teacher profiles in aggregate. The results of the study may be published, but your name will not be used.

Although there may be no benefit to you personally, the possible benefit of your participation may contribute to existing professional development programs.

If you have any questions concerning this research study, I can be reached at 985-892-7581. Or you may contact Dr. Charles S. Gifford through his email address: <a href="mailto:charlesgifford@charter.net">charlesgifford@charter.net</a>.

Donna Odom	
By signing below you are giving consent to participate in the above study.	

Printed Name

If you have questions about your rights as a subject/participant in this research, or if you feel you have been placed at risk, please contact Dr. Richard Speaker at the University of New Orleans (504) 280-6607.

Date

The following questionnaire will be used to complete my dissertation. I am relying on each of you to send the completed form back to me by (date). Please be advised that if you wish not to answer a particular question or questions the rest of the questionnaire should be mailed by the deadline. I understand that each of you are extremely busy during this time of year therefore the questionnaire is short and easy to answer. I appreciate your time, effort, and promptness with this matter. All participants will remain anonymous and no names will be mentioned in my study.

# <u>Directions:</u> Please answer the following questions and email your completed form back to me by (date). Demographic Information

Participants' Name	Gender: MaleFemale
Ethnicity: Degree(s) E	arned:
Current Job: GPA:	Parish:
Where do you reside: Ma	rital Status:
How many children do you have? What a	re their ages?
Praxis I scores: Math Reading	Writing
LaTAAP Results:	
1. Why did you decide to become a teacher?	
2. He had been been been been been de de de de le	
2. How long have you been in the teaching pr	
3. Tell me about any mentors who influenced	/assisted you.
4. Were there any factors, issues or variables	that may have affected your Praxis scores? If so, please explain.
5. Were there any factors, issues or variables explain.	that may have affected your LaTAAP score? If so, please
Please sign the bottom of this form if you grant n	s, with your permission I can access your records at LSUA. ne permission to retrieve and report your Praxis scores.

# University Committee for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research University of New Orleans

Campus Correspondence

Principal Investigator:

Charles Gifford

Co-Investigator.

Donna LaCaze

Date:

June 20, 2007

PROTOCOL APPLICATION:

"An Investigation of Factors Identified by Novice Teachers that Influence Performance on Standardized Assessments

and Teacher Performance."

IRB#:

The IRB has deemed that the research and procedures described in this protocol application are compliant with the University of New Orleans and federal guidelines. This protocol was reviewed and approved under 45 CFR 46.110(1) categories 6 & 7.

Please remember that approval is only valid for one year from the approval date. Any changes to the procedures or protocols must be reviewed and approved by the IRB prior to implementation.

If an adverse, unforeseen event occurs (e.g., physical, social, or emotional harm), you are required to inform the IRB as soon as possible after the event.

Best of luck with your project!

Sincerely,

Laura Scaramella, Ph.D.

Chair, University Committee for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research

## **VITA**

Donna Odom LaCaze was born and raised in Oakdale, Louisiana. Upon graduation from Oakdale High School, she attended Northeast Louisiana University (now known at University of Louisiana Monroe), where she graduated in 1993 with a B.A. degree in Elementary Education. Mrs. LaCaze received a Master's Degree in Administration and Supervision from McNeese State University in 1995. She continued her education at McNeese and earned an Education Specialist Degree in Administration and Supervision in 1997.

Mrs. LaCaze's experience as an educator began in a rural school in Oakdale, Louisiana where she served as a elementary school teacher for five years. After receiving her Education Specialist Degree she became an Instructor of Education at Louisiana State University Alexandria where she taught nine years. After recently moving to St. Tammany parish, Mrs. LaCaze is now serving as an adjunct instructor for Southeastern Louisiana University in Hammond, Louisiana. She continues to work as an external evaluator for the Louisiana Teacher Assistance and Assessment Program.

Mrs. LaCaze is married to Todd LaCaze who serves as Vice President of Finance at Tulane Hospital. She is the proud mother of three sons, Jordan age 15, Christian age 11, and Joseph age 3.